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Chairman’s Statement
+ fE s

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

The global economy faced severe challenges since the onset of
COVID-19 pandemic, the shipping and logistics industry consider
2021 to be an unprecedented year for disruptions and supply chain
bottlenecks, which negatively impacting trucking, warehousing, port,
and air and sea carrier operations, result in a mammoth increase in
shipping and container costs. The Group's in-plant logistics and
domestic and overseas transportation businesses were also
inevitably affected.

With the implementation of the central government'’s strict
prevention and control measures across the country, the domestic
economy began to gradually return to normal. However, the recent
emergence of the Omicron variant does not bode well, and the
central government has rolled out stringent movement restrictions,
mass testing programs, and lockdowns. Numerous localised
disruptions to factories and key logistics choke-points seems
inevitable, which dampened the normal trade and freight transport
activities between China and overseas markets, and lead to adverse
impact on the overall logistics and transportation industry.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As one of the few suppliers that can provide customers with
complete in-plant logistics services, the Group strove to sustain
relatively stable business development by maintaining quality
services and providing customers with comprehensive solutions. The
Group's total revenue increased by RMB26.6 million or 14.4% from
RMB185.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the
“Previous Year") to RMB211.8 million for the Year, which was
mainly attributed by the increase in revenue from transportation
services as a result of increase in unit price for international freight
forwarding agency services, which caused by global shipping
container shortage and disruption from lockdowns.

Although the macroeconomic environment is in an undulating
recovery, the implementation of strict preventive measures in the
logistics industry in response to the pandemic continued to affect
the logistics process efficiency, leading to an increase in the cost of
the Group's operations, including outsourced labour and shipping
Costs, etc.

Following the land resumption plan carried out by the Guangzhou
municipal government involving four of the Group’s warehouses (the
"Relevant Warehouse"), the Group ceased using the Relevant
Warehouses at the end of July 2021. The Group took this opportunity
to accelerate the implementation of the plan for warehouse network
optimisation. In the third quarter of 2020, the Group leased a
warehouse with a total gross floor area of over 54,000 square metres
in Dongguan city. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had two
warehouses in Guangdong province with total gross floor area of
approximately 66,000 square metres. By leveraging the advantages
of scale and facilities of the new warehouse in Dongguan city, the
Group further integrated its warehouse resources in the Guangdong
province and optimised its customer base according to resource
deployment, and actively explored sources of new customers to
broaden its customer base.

However, impairment on property, plant and equipment of RMB16.5
million have been provided during the Year for the leasehold
improvement and equipment in the Relevant Warehouses which
cannot be relocated to the new warehouse in Dongguan. The Group
has applied to the local government for compensation or ex gratia
payment for the impact of the land resumption plans.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea

Despite the positive revenue growth, the Group recorded a loss of
RMB17.1 million for the Year (Previous Year: profit of RMB2.5 million)
mainly due to provision for impairment on property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB16.5 million due to land resumption
plans and increase in the sub-contracting expenses.

During the Year, the Group persevered with stringent risk
management. The Group maintained sufficient liquidity to support its
business development. As at 31 December 2021, cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately RMB68.2 million. A sound
financial position provides favourable conditions for the Group to
capture merger and acquisition opportunities in the industry in a
flexible manner.

PROSPECTS

Looking into 2022, there are still many uncertainties in the global
economic environment. Although the domestic-economy is
recovering steadily, the emergence of Omicron and other potential
coronavirus variants adds a further dose of unpredictability to this
mix. Various disruptions have already arisen such as trucking
shortages, vessel delays, labour shortages, and warehousing and
manufacturing closures in various parts of China. The scale and
speed of deployment necessary to counter Omicron is daunting.

While the initial shock of the pandemic depressed freight volume
growth in early 2020, the world recovered its appetite for more
physical goods shortly thereafter. Even though demand soared
through most of 2021, the supply of effective freight capacity
struggled to keep up. The same dynamics will probably continue into
2022, as supply chain challenges are unlikely to be resolved
immediately. The logistics industry continued to face a complex and
volatile environment.

Despite an abundance of labor at relatively low costs, China has one
of the highest degrees of logistics automation, especially in
e-commerce. But there is much potential that is still untapped in
omnichannel integration and warehouse technology. China is
committed to promoting the upgrading of the logistics industry, as
well as improving the efficiency of goods movement across the
country.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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The Group's 54,000 square metre warehouse facility in Dongguan
city can cater for the storage needs of the industrial areas in the
PRC. It also serves as a distribution centre for domestic and overseas
e-commerce goods, and services the entire Greater Bay Area
through the Group's self-operated and outsourced professional
transportation fleets. Dongguan’s comprehensive external transport
network allows seamless flow of goods and materials between the
city and other parts of the country through sea and land
transportation.

While identifying sources of new customers, the Group will further
explore the logistics needs of existing customers and take advantage
of its comprehensive logistics solutions. The Group will also fully
utilise the substantial warehousing capacity and advanced facilities
of the warehouse in Dongguan city to further consolidate its leading
position in the logistics industry in the Guangdong area.

The Group is committed to improving its operation and intelligent
logistics management system. It strives to keep pace with the latest
developments and become an intelligent and digital modern logistics
enterprise. Apart from capital investment in the automated storage
facilities, the Group has also installed a resources development
management system to improve efficiency, control and monitoring
capabilities of transportation and in-plant logistics. It is expected that
the system will effectively manage and carry out the Group's key
logistics business, while also providing quality services and better
experience for customers.

The stable growth of the local business proves that the Group’s
office in Egypt, which serves as a bridgehead to the Middle East, can
effectively support further business expansion to the surrounding
areas.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea

uncertainties continue to persist in various sectors in 2022, including
the logistics industry in China. The pace of economic recovery after
the pandemic, international trade relations, and even geopolitics will
still have an impact on the business environment. Enterprises must
remain vigilant and closely monitor the development of the overall
economic situation, and take flexible and decisive measures on a
timely basis to manage market and operating risks. The Group will
adopt a prudent and meticulous approach to explore methods such
as strategic cooperation or merger and acquisition to achieve
business diversification and multi-domain synergy through business
ecosystem, so as to facilitate its horizontal and vertical expansion as
well as cross-industry expansion, and to expand revenue base in the
future.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to
our staff for diligently performing their duties and overcoming
difficulties during a challenging year. Their commitment has enabled
the Group to maintain stability in its business amidst challenges. At
the same time, | would like to thank all shareholders, customers and
business partners for their trust and support to the Group.

Le Kang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN R

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established logistics service provider in the PRC
which provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the needs
of the customers’ supply chains including (i) transportation; (ii)
warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv) customisation services
(consisting mainly of labelling services and bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants
and/or designated locations. The Group has two warehouses located
in the Guangdong Province with a total gross floor area of
approximately 66,000 square metres which offer warehousing
services to customers. The Group's in-plant logistics services cover
the management of the movement of (i) production materials and
components and work-in-progress to the production lines within the
customers’ manufacturing plants; and (i) finished goods out to their
factory gate. The Group's range of services gives it a competitive
advantage over other logistics service providers in the PRC which
offer only a limited range of services.

The unexpected outbreak of the COVID-19 has brought
unprecedented impact to the world economy. The domestic
economy is in an undulating recovery thanks to the government'’s
strict prevention and control measures and its experience containing
the pandemic. However, the whole logistics industry has been
heavily disrupted since 2020, especially the efficiency of logistics
flow. The spiralling outsourced labour and shipping costs have hit
the Group, the Group have been struggling to cope with operation
costs as well as the economic fallout from the pandemic.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), higher
outsourced labour costs was incurred in order to maintain a stable
labour supply and to cope with the adjustment of customers’
production schedules. Sub-contracting expenses for international
freight forwarding agency service has climbed dramatically caused
by the global shipping container shortage.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

EIBE R DT

The overall demand for the Group’s operation in the provision of
both domestic transportation and international freight forwarding
agency service, have yet to resume to the normal level before the
pandemic. Considering the market uncertainty, the Group has been
managing operating expenses and reducing marketing and
promotion budgets cautiously. Since the Group’s operation is
service-oriented and labour intensive, we have taken measures to
minimise the risk of exposure to infection. We provided our delivery
personnel with face masks, hand sanitizers and other protective
equipment immediately after the outbreak and required all our staff,
drivers and workers to put on face masks at all times when they
were on duty and be highly aware of personal hygiene.

Land resumption plans

Following the local government'’s land resumption plans which
involve the land at which four of the Group’s warehouses (the
"Relevant Warehouses") are situated, the Group has found a
suitable replacement warehouse and a new warehouse in Dongguan
with a total gross floor area of approximately 54,000 square metres
started its operation in the third quarter of 2020.

The Group ceased using the Relevant Warehouses at the end of July
2021 and impairment on property, plant and equipment of RMB16.5
million have been provided during the Year for the relevant leasehold
improvement and equipment which cannot be relocated to the new
warehouse in Dongguan. Accordingly, the right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of RMB25.6 million and corresponding lease
liabilities with a carrying amount of RMB27.6 million in relation to the
leases of the Relevant Warehouses and certain forklifts were
derecognised.

The Group has applied to the local government for compensation or
ex gratia payment for the impact of the land resumption plans.
Further announcements will be made by the Company in respect of
any material development regarding the compensation related to the
land resumption plans as when appropriate. As of the date of this
report, the lawyer are of the opinion that, the compensation is
remote.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERE RN

Despite the positive revenue growth, since higher operation costs
and the provision for impairment on property, plant and equipment
of the Relevant Warehouses was incurred during the Year, the Group
recorded a loss for the Year of RMB17.1 million compared to profit
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Previous Year") of
RMB2.5 million.

Outlook

The containment of the pandemic in the macroeconomic
environment is still uncertain despite the distribution of vaccines
across the world. The evolving pandemic will remain the biggest
uncertainty the Group will face in 2022. The Group will continue to
assess the impact of the pandemic on the Group’s operations and
financial performance and closely monitor the Group’s exposure to
the risks and uncertainties in connection with the pandemic on an
ongoing basis, being cautious about the scattered cases in China,
progress of COVID-19 control, possible rebound of the pandemic,
prevalent spread of the new virus variants, and preventive measures
local governments might implement, which would limit the Group's
flexibility in the provision of domestic and international logistics
services.

Nonetheless, the Group considers that its financial resources remain
sufficiently strong to enable us to navigate through this pandemic
crisis and it appears to have gotten back on a growth track. The
Group will remain cautious and continue to review and act decisively
by enhancing its business continuity plans, taking effective cost
control measures, ensuring minimal disruption to the customers and
taking all possible measures to maintain a safe operation
environment for the employees.

Looking forward, taking the advantage of the economic development
in the Greater Bay Area, the Group will leverage its business
strengths and aim to extend business opportunities in the region.
The Group also expects to actively diversify the logistics services to a
broader spectrum of industries, which in anticipation of any potential
change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics services,
the Group will also actively consider to explore business
opportunities to accommodate their needs.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in provision of transportation,
warehousing, in-plant logistics and customisation services. The
overall revenue of the Group increased by RMB26.6 million or 14.4%
from RMB185.2 million for the Previous Year to RMB211.8 million for
the Year.

Transportation service

Transportation service primarily involved (i) the delivery of the
customers' production materials or components from their suppliers
to their manufacturing plants; (i) the arrangement for transportation
of the customers’ finished goods to their designated locations or
downstream customers; (iii) sea transportation services; and (iv)
international freight forwarding agency services. The transportation
service of the Group primarily covered across the PRC and has
expanded to Egypt since late 2018.

Revenue from the transportation service recorded an increase of
44.8% from RMB66.0 million for the Previous Year to RMB95.6 million
for the Year mainly attributable to an increase in unit price for
international freight forwarding agency services caused by global
shipping container shortage and disruption from lockdowns.

Warehousing service

The warehousing service of the Group included provision of
inventory storage and management services. As at 31 December
2021, the Group had two warehouses in the PRC with total gross
floor area of approximately 66,000 square metres.

Revenue from the warehousing service decreased by 9.9% from
RMB48.5 million for the Previous Year to RMB43.7 million for the Year
mainly due to ceased using the Relevant Warehouses at the end of
July 2021 pursuant to the local government’s land resumption plans.
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In-plant logistics service

The in-plant logistics service primarily included management of the
movement of (i) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the customers’
manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to factory gate of
the customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics service slightly
increased by 1.7% from RMB69.7 million for the Previous Year to
RMB70.9 million for the Year.

Customisation service

The customisation service mainly comprised of labelling services and
bundling services which is subject to the demand from its customers
on an as-needed basis.

Revenue generated from the customisation service amounted to
RMBO0.9 million and RMB1.6 million for the Previous Year and the
Year, respectively.

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net mainly consisted of gain on lease
modification, bank interest income, government grants and net
exchange losses. A net gain increased from RMB1.4 million for the
Previous Year to RMB4.1 million for the Year mainly due to (i)
increase in gain on lease modification by RMB2.1 million principally
attributed by the derecognition of right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities for the Relevant Warehouse since July
2021 as a result of the local government’s land resumption plan; and
(i) decrease in net exchange loss arising from the translation of
foreign currency denominated monetary items by RMBO0.9 million.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits.

The employee benefits expenses remained relatively stable at
RMB72.9 million and RMB71.7 million for the Previous Year and the
Year, respectively.
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Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services.
Sub-contracting expenses were incurred for the orders for domestic
transportation service and international freight forwarding agency
services by our customers, whereby the Group, through outsourcing
to independent subcontractors, assisted the customers to obtain
cargo space from shipping companies or shipping agents that meet
their requirements. The sub-contracting expenses increased by
RMB33.7 million from RMB46.5 million for the Previous Year to
RMB80.2 million for the Year mainly contributed by the higher
subcontracting expenses for international freight forwarding agency
services caused by the global shipping container shortage as a result
of the outbreak of COVID-19.

Lease payment relating to short-term leases

Short-term lease payment mainly comprised lease payments for
rental expense for office premises, warehouses, staff quarters and
forklifts, which do not meet the definition of lease liability as lessee
under HKFRS 16. Short-term lease payment increased significantly
from RMB9.1 million for the Previous Year to RMB28.3 million for the
Year due to increase in lease payments associated with short-term
leases for new warehouses in Dongguan during the Year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Pursuant to the local government’s land resumption plans involving
the Relevant Warehouses are situated, the Group ceased using the
Relevant Warehouses at the end of July 2021, the relevant leasehold
improvement and equipment that are being used or installed in the
Relevant Warehouses cannot be relocated to the new warehouse in
Dongguan and subject to disposal and written-off, provision for
impairment of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB16.5 million was therefore recognised during the Year (Previous
Year: Nil).
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Depreciation of right-of-use assets

The Group has certain leases pursuant to HKFRS 16 in respect of (i)
premises comprising warehouses, office premises and staff quarters,
and (i) plant and machinery such as forklifts. The depreciation of
right-of-use assets decreased from RMB17.3 million for the Previous
Year to RMB9.7 million for the Year mainly due to derecognition of
right-of-use assets of the Relevant Warehouses since July 2021 as a
result of the local government's land resumption plan.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities and bank borrowing. Finance costs decreased from RMB3.4
million for the Previous Year to RMB2.0 million for the Year mainly
attributable by the derecognition of lease liabilities of the Relevant
Warehouses since July 2021 as a result of the local government’s
land resumption plan.

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly include fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expenses which mainly include water and
electricity expenses; (iii) office and telephone expenses which mainly
include general office expenses and long-distance calling fees; (iv)
insurance expenses for the warehouses and transportations; (v)
entertainment and travelling expenses for business soliciting; and (vi)
others which mainly include maintenance expenses for the
warehouses, professional fees and other miscellaneous expenses.

Other expenses remained relatively stable at RMB27.2 million and
RMB26.7 million for the Previous Year and the Year, respectively.

(Loss)/profit for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss of RMB17.1
million for the Year (Previous Year: profit of RMB2.5 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had net current assets of RMB119.5
million (2020: RMB98.1 million) and cash and cash equivalents of
RMB68.2 million (2020: RMB75.0 million). The Directors confirm that
the Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet its
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum of lease liabilities and bank
borrowing less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital represents
total equity as shown on the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group.

Since the amount of cash and cash equivalents exceeded that of
lease liabilities and bank borrowing, the Group is at net cash position
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Thus, the gearing ratio was not
applicable as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no material change in capital structure of the
Company during the Year. The capital of the Company comprises
solely ordinary shares. The Directors review the Group's capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, issuance of new shares as well as the issue of
new debt.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's business activities are principally in the PRC and are
primarily denominated in RMB. Certain subsidiaries of the Group had
foreign currency sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group did not resort to any currency
hedging facility during the Year. However, the Directors will
continuously monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’'S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2021 (2020: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 (2020: nil).
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material capital
commitment.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments for
property, plant and equipment, amounting to RMB632,000.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed 687 (2020: 793) full
time employees. The Group determines the employee’s
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions, work experience, the prevailing market conditions and
the Group’s remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme and share options under the
Company'’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of our
employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training and
sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.

SUBSCRIPTION OF BONDS

On 13 August 2021, the Group entered into the subscription
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to subscribe for a bond with the principal amount of
RMB40 million, which is unsecured, bears an interest rate of 4.3%
per annum and will mature on the first anniversary from the date of
issue. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 13 August 2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions, and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year, nor there were
any future plans for material investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2021.
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SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

On 18 November 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party (the “Subscriber”),
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue and the Subscriber has agreed to subscribe for 80,000,000
subscription shares at a price of HK$0.20 per share (the
“Subscription”). The gross proceed from the Subscription was
approximately HK$16.0 million (equivalent to approximately RMB13.1
million).

In view of the current market conditions, the Board are of the view
that the Subscription will broaden the shareholder base of the
Company, raise additional funds for the business operation of the
Group, improve the working capital and strengthen the Group’s
financial conditions. In light of the above, the Directors consider that
the subscription agreement is fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole. The
Company intends to apply all the proceeds of as general working
capital. On 10 December 2021, the Subscription was completed and
80,000,000 subscription shares were allotted and issued to the
Subscriber.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the

Company dated 18 November 2021, 8 December 2021 and 10
December 2021.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2017 (the
“Prospectus”) with the Group’s actual business progress for the

period from the date of the Listing to 31 December 2021 is set out

EEECHEREBER 2R

ANRBIAEA2017F 9 A29 AMBRERE (B
ERDMIEBEZRASEER ETASES
2021F 12 AN AL ABMNEREBERLELE S
war

below:

Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress

EKER Eika EREBER

Upgrading one of the Obtain quotation from service providers e Service contracts with service providers have been signed and
warehouses by installing and discuss the scope of service with the initial upgrade works on the construction of infrastructure
automated storage service providers facilities have been completed.

facilities and systems
FRERADIERRIER
ZEASRER R

Expanding the existing
in-plant logistics business
in the North China and
East China regions

BRAMAEIRER R
RAEBRAMRES

BERBHERNRELARGHERY
R EE

Install automated storage facilities and
systems in one of the Group’s existing
warehouses
REASEEF—ERERERRBEIE
RGN ESD

Conduct market research on the industry
trend and development especially in the
North China and East China regions
RELRERMBRITEBERERAR
m5HE

Participate in the tendering process of
potential customers
SEEBERPHORERRER

Hire approximately 30 additional staff for
the in-plant logistics business
RBAYREBIEN0EET

Rent new forklifts and other equipment
MENXEREMBZE

EAERBHENEEREA NI X ERSEREAANNS
FRIRE -

The installation has been completed as at the date of this
annual report.
RAFRAM - RRE T

Market researches on the industry trend and development
were performed.
TXBERBERTSRECET -

The Group has participated in the tendering process of
potential customers which include several large customers
from the beverage, textile and pharmaceutical industries.
AEEC2RELRP (RESK  HARBETEETAE
P)8BERER

The Group has hired over 30 additional staff for the in-plant
logistics business.
AEEDARAYMREBIERERB0EET

For the sake of cost-saving and fitting the local business
model, all in-plant equipment used, including forklifts, in the
existing in-plant logistics business in the North China and
East China regions are required to be provided by our
customers.

BEARAREAAEBER BRI RERMEBARE
BRYIREBAERMMARNSRE  2EXE - HEZKH
B -
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Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress
EKE®R Eike EREBER
Expanding vehicle fleet e Acquire four trucks for transportation Two trucks have been purchased and put in use.
BREHK o BENHEHRE BREE_HREGRALS

o Hire approximately ten additional drivers for Seven additional drivers have been on board.

transportation business MENTARRELNHE

o REHEBIEAOT A%

Enhancing sales and o Participate in industry exhibitions and The Group attended industry exhibitions which include the
marketing efforts trade fairs 2018 Shanghai International Container Exhibition (2018 /&

MRHEREHENE o 2EIERBEREHE ERERHERESEE) held in Shanghai, PRC, the Third Global

Redesign and maintain the Company’s
website for marketing purpose
REHANENRG REEA TR

Set up a sales and marketing department

and hire approximately seven sales

specialists
FUHEREHHFVERN L LIHEES
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Logistics Technology Conference 2018 (2018 % =& 2 3k %)
A @) held at Haikou, PRC and the Guangdong 21st
Century Maritime Silk Road International Expo Theme
Forum 2019 (2019 R 21428 L4 v RERBEE R £/
$18) held at Guangzhou, PRC.

AREHRTXRE (AREHE DFRTH2018 LEEEE
KHERES  ETESORMRN018E=E2RMRRIMA
EREFEBEMENRMN2019ER 211428 LR 2 RERE

EgTEmE) -

The Company's website has been redesigned with more
graphics and picturesque images and has also been
enhanced by adding more company news and industry
information.
ARRMAREEENR 5
TRAMBERITEER -

MIEZEXRLER - WM

The sales and marketing department has been set up and
four sales specialists were employed.
ERHERSEHFITREANEHESS -

Staff representatives of the Group visited customers’ new
factory plants overseas and a company has been set up in
Egypt for expansion of the Group's logistics business
0verseas.

AEENBERREFEPREINIEE - WARRKY—
RRAR - LREIMERAEENMRERS -



Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

EREHHRA

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by
way of share offer, net of underwriting commission and relevant

expenses, amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date of the
Listing up to 31 December 2021 is set out below:

FREFERE
AR TR B8 7 R B BRI FHE R (N
B EHmERAMMZ) K A3 HEBT -

EFBERABSTHINNT

B T BEEEE20214F12 A31 B ILHIB S

Planned use
of net Unutilised Actual use Unutilised Expected
proceeds  net proceeds of net  net proceeds timeline for
(as stated as at proceeds as at utilising the
inthe  31December during 31 December unutilised
Prospectus) 2020 the Year 2021 net proceeds
#2020 B20215
BREEMR 12A31A FEE 128318 BRAKHA
FAERERE HR KA ERDAY BRKBA FARERE
HRERE FasERE FARERE FeRERE febiledk g
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BERT
Upgrading one of the warehouses by R E B A
installing automated storage B E S v Fully utilised
facilities and systems Eh—{AgE 180 - = = BEHHA
Expanding existing in-plant logistics RERMEELR
husiness in the North China and ERMRNEE Fully utilised
East China regions BAMTES 6.0 08 08 = [RE Gl
Expanding vehicle fleet BABY By December 2022
40 09 04) 05 R 202512 AR
Enhancing sales and marketing efforts — IASER L5 0% Fully utilised
40 05 (0.5 - EEHHA
Repaying the bank loans [EBBIER Fully utilised
40 - - S EEHBA
General working capital —BLEES Fully utilised
28 - = = BESHA
Total Bt 3838 22 (1.7) 05

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERE TR

The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the
Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds
was applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market.

As at 31 December 2021, the unused net proceeds have been
deposited in licensed banks.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner as
stated in the Prospectus. However, the Directors will constantly
evaluate the Group's business objectives and may change or modify
plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFNEREEAESERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Le Kang, aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director and
the chairman of the Board on 6 December 2021 and 30 December
2021 respectively. He has over 10 years of experience in marketing
and company management, mainly covering cultural tourism
consulting, tourism and wellness, Chinese medicine retailing, health
management, etc. Mr. Le is currently the legal representative and
partner of a number of domestic companies, and has served as the
legal representative of Shanghai Leshi Medical Technology Group
Co., Ltd.* (E/B X & 2 & & & E A R 2 7)) and Shanghai Leshi
Tourism Development Group Co., Ltd.* ( F/B4KikREZREEBHR
2~ Al). Since 2020, he has been the partner of Shanghai Didi
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)* ( L% S REFA B D
¥ (BRAE)), the legal representative of Panjin Liaohu Legin Health
Care Management Co., Ltd.* (R ERLEINEBREELEEERAF)
and Leshi Materia Medica (Shanghai) Cosmetics Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (AT (L8) bk BHUAR A R)).

Mr. Le was the leader of the new era of Chinese brands in 2019. He
also served as the secretary-general of the Shanghai International
Volunteer Service Station* (_E/&BIFR EREZE AR 75 1k) of the International
Peace Exchange Foundation.

Mr. Li Jiahao, aged 31, was appointed as an executive Director on
4 August 2021. He is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
also a member of the Remuneration Committee. He obtained the
degree of Bachelor of Arts in International Trade and Business
Ccommunication from University of Portsmouth in 2012. He joined the
operating subsidiary of the Company, namely Guangzhou World-Link
(China) Co. Limited* (EMFEERFIHRAYRER A7) ("Guangzhou
World-Link") as assistant manager since September 2012. Mr. Li
Jiahao was promoted as project manager of Guangzhou World-Link
and assistant general manager of Guangzhou World-Link in April
2013 and April 2017 respectively. He has been promoted as a deputy
general manager of Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li
Jiahao is mainly responsible for the business operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). Mr. Li
Jiahao is also a director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited which is
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Mr. Li Jiali, aged 30, was appointed as an executive Director on 4
August 2021. He is a member of the Nomination Committee. He
obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from Royal Holloway and Bedford New College,
University of London in 2015 and Master of Science in e-Business
Management from the University of Warwick in 2016. He joined
Guangzhou World-Link as assistant general manager since January
2017. He has been promoted as deputy general manager of
Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li Jial is mainly
responsible for formulating matching logistics plans and strategies
and developing and optimizing logistics systems based on the
development of the Group’s business strategy. Mr. Li Jiali is also a
director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Song Ruipeng, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
Director on 15 December 2021. He has over 14 years of experience
in equity investment and management consulting. From July 2007 to
November 2014, he acted as an investment director of Shanghai
Wanfeng Jinyuan Investment Co. Ltd.* ( E)/§ 8B LRI EAR A7)
and was principally engaged in project selection, due diligence
investigation, post-investment management, listing follow-up, project
exit, etc. He subsequently served as a partner of Shihua Chuangying
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (it = &l 5 % & = I8 B B 2 7)) and
Shanghai Yiyang Asset Management Co., Ltd.* ( E/8RIGEEERS
R 2 @l) from December 2014 to July 2018, mainly responsible for
project identification, selection, research, negotiation and
coordination, as well as the establishment, management and
operation of the company'’s funds. Since August 2018, he has been a
partner of Shengniu (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd.*
(RE(EHEZEEEBR R A, responsible for corporate listing,
M&A, business model design, initial establishment and team
management. Mr. Song obtained a bachelor’s degree from Jiangsu
University in 2003 and a master’s degree from Southeast University
in 2007. He was qualified as a Shanghai Intermediate Economist in
2009 and obtained the fund practice qualification and the securities
practice qualification in 2016 in the People’s Republic of China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shao Wei, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 September 2017. Mr. Shao is a member of
each of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Shao obtained an undergraduate degree in fine chemical
engineering from the Wuxi Institute of Light Industry in July 1998. Mr.
Shao was employed by KPMG Advisory (China) Limited from April
2013 to March 2019. His last position of the same company was a
director where he was responsible for offering management
consultation to clients, with a focus on strategy and business model
development, management and leadership enhancement,
organisation development and operation improvement. He is
currently a director of an internet company based in the PRC.

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek, aged 33, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 November 2021. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. He obtained the degree of
Bachelor of Arts, major in Public Accounting from Saint John's
University, Minnesota, the United States in 2010. He is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and is a licensed representative for type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity under the Securities and Future
Ordinance (the "SFO"). Mr. Law has been the vice president in the
Investment Banking Department in Central China International
Capital Limited since July 2021. Prior to his current position, Mr. Law
has accumulated wealth of experience in corporate finance and
accounting through his positions in a corporate finance company
and in a number of accounting firms providing audit and accounting
services to listed and private companies from May 2010 to July 2021.

Mr. Yu Chun Man, aged 29, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 November 2021. He is the chairman of
each of the nomination committee of the Company and the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee.
He obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from University of London in 2015, and Master of
Science degree in Accounting, Accountability and Financial
Management from King's College London of United Kingdom in 2016.
He is a licensed representative for type 1 (dealing in securities) and
type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the
SFO. Mr. Yu has been the associate in the Investment Banking
Department in Guosen Securities (HK) Capital Company Limited since
February 2021. Mr. Yu has over 3 years of experience in the
corporate finance industry.
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Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low, aged 33, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 6 December 2021. She is an
expert in human resources management. She participated in several
IPO projects, mainly responsible for the contracting and licensing
matters. Ms. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Business Enterprise
with Honours from University College Birmingham in 2019. From
February 2021 to September 2021, Ms. Wong served as an
independent non-executive director of China Supply Chain Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3708).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xianchuan (§& &8 ), aged 40, joined the Group in May 2000
and has been the chief operating officer since April 2010. Mr. Jiang is
mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s project management and
warehousing and logistics operations. Mr. Jiang has over 19 years of
logistics operation experience. Mr. Jiang completed his high school
education in 1981.

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#3%7), aged 45, joined the Group in February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang
is mainly responsible for negotiating the Group’s service contracts
with customers and preparation of business performance analysis
and contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing* (7 B%)7 S5 g A
&) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee* (& B 47 7% 12 %1k & fif &= 8 &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.

* Translated English names of Chinese entities for which no official English
translation exists are unofficial translations for identification purposes only, and
in the event of any inconsistency between the Chinese names and their English
translation, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposals of assets or any significant capital
expenditure;

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules;

. developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's
financial controls, internal control and risk management

systems;

o Board appointment and other major appointments or removal,
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.
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As at 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following four executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek
Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Shao Wei

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this Annual Report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such Directors to be independent in accordance with
each and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

ate Governance Report contined
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Attributable to the industry nature of the Group’s business as a
logistics service provider, the Company currently has a dominant
male Board, comprising four male executive Directors, one female
independent non-executive Director and three male independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of
experiences, including business and operation management,
accounting and taxation, corporate governance, regulatory advisory,
business model and strategy development and logistics operations.
The education background of the Directors ranges from business
administration and accountancy to law and fine chemical
engineering, from education institutions in Hong Kong, the PRC and
United Kingdom. The Group has also taken, and will continue to take
steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company,
including but not limited to the Board and senior management levels.
To implement gender diversity at the Board level, the Group has
found one female individual to join the Board in 2020 and will
maintain the presence of female representation at the Board
thereafter. The Group will adopt various measures to identify suitable
candidates, such as utilising the business networks of the Directors
and senior management and, if considered necessary, engaging the
services of executive search agents. It will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the
Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal action against its Directors and officers.

Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. In
accordance with the Code Provision Aé.5 of the CG Code regarding
continuous professional development, the Company had received
the training record from each of the executive Directors, namely Mr.
Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao, Mr. Li Jiali and Mr. Song Ruipeng and each of
the INEDs, namely Mr. Shao Wei, Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek, Mr. Yu
Chun Man and Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low, who had attended training
sessions and seminars as well as read materials on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2021.

ate Governance Report contined

A ERE
ARREERFEARNAEBERABNESS
ZLBEBHEE T -

REZEGHIHRENEERREREEE ST
ERAFTERRERKRE  YAESSRHEER
BR-

EERATERAKREFT (MER) BAQFE
EBhEEEKBREE (ER) HENERH
ZACEE LA EERE -

EFEheABERR
ARTEREEFRBABETLEAH MO ER
ABIEEEHRRE Y -

EE2EIIRTIE

BUHEZAESHEREBERZAREIERN
2EREMAEZOABREI - URERHEAEAA
AIMZEREBAERE TH  TrsMEBER LT
AR E AR R TE AR AR B ER R EABE
TESENEM - AR AT BESRUMN
HOREREREENMERET - RIFDE
ERTRAAEBIBEZERRE ZFANEEAS
ff ARRBWMSRITES (NEELE B
RERE BEHNEERREBLEE) RSB
FEAITEF(RIRBEEA - BHEMEELS REX
FERTEE/NE) MBS RERERE
2021612 A3 B I FEHEHIREMHANE -
ARBIEEERER  LEH AR KA
KRGS B BB A R AL - A
BANERRESAIMARESNAG - B

A o

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

31



32

Corpor

0>

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records BRABRESHELE

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general REZE2021F12831BIHEE - EEERESE
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees” g% BREAhEEZLZES((EEEET
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and BEEERZES - FHEESeNIELEZES)E
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31 @2 HEXHIIKRTEX ¢

December 2021 is set out in the table below:

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

CHERAEREE &
Annual General
Meeting held
Audit Remuneration Nomination on 31 May
Board Committee Committee Committee 2021
R2021%5R 310

Exg EUERE FHzRe REZRE BTHERFEFAE

Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Le Kang (Note 1) SEEE (1) 4/4 N/ATER N/AT N/ARER N/ARER
Mr. Li Jiahao (Note 2) REERE(WE2) 17 N/ATER Nil N/ARER N/ARER
Mr. L Jiali (Vote 3 RENSEE (H33) n NATER NATER NI AT
Mr. Song Ruipeng (Note 4) REBEE(Wite) 22 NATER NATER NARER NATER
Mr. Li Jianxin RlEsnt

(resigned on 21 December 2021) (K021 12521 AEHE) 10110 NATEH N/ATER 4/4 1
Mr. Li Jianming BlER% A

(resigned on 15 December 2021) (R2021E12515884) 919 N/ATER 33 NARER n
Ms. Lin Jianfang MRIE st

(resigned on 6 December 2021) (K2021£12 56 BFHE) 8/8 NATER N/ATER NARER "

Independent non-executive Directors B v #5172 %

Mr. Shao Wei e 12112 4/4 4/4 4/4 Ul
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek (Note 5) FREEE (125 5/5 11 N/ATER N/AT R N/ATER
Mr. Yu Chun Man (Note 6) REEE (W H6) 5/5 11 22 2/2 N/AT R
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (Note 7) TRE A7) 474 N/ATER NATER N/AT &R N/AT R
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence RERET

(resigned on 12 November 2021) (R20015 11 B 128 84T) 717 33 N/ANER N/ATEH 1"
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HR&EET

(resigned on 12 November 2021) (R2021411 5 12884F) 17 33 22 2/2 1
Notes: Hifat
1. Mr. Le Kang has been appointed as executive Director with effect from 6 1. MEEAER(TARITES - B2021F12 86 AN -

December 2021.

2. Mr. Li Jiahao has been appointed as executive Director with effect from 4 August 2. Rt AR ANITES  A2021F8H4R#E4
2021 and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 15 o WEETATMEESRE 82021128158
December 2021. RBAERY ©
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Mr. Li Jiali has been appointed as executive Director with effect from 4 August
2021 and a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 21 December
2021.

~

Mr. Song Ruipeng has been appointed as executive Director with effect from 15
December 2021.

5. Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 12 November
2021.

6. Mr. Yu Chun Man has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 12 November
2021.

7. Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 6 December 2021.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEOQ") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The roles of the Group’s Chairman and CEO are
complimentary, but importantly distinct and separate. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Li Jianxin resigned as executive
Director and the Chairman with effect from 21 December 2021 and
Mr. Le Kang, the executive Director, has been appointed as the
Chairman with effect from 30 December 2021. Mr. Li Jianming
resigned as executive Director and the CEO with effect from 15
December 2021 and Mr. Li Jiahao, the executive Director, has been
appointed as the CEO with effect from 15 December 2021. Mr. Le
Kang, executive Director, is the Chairman and is responsible for the
leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while Mr. Li Jiahao, executive Director, is the CEO and is
responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of service of one or three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from time to
time).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting, and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, namely, Mr. Law
Cho Kwan Derek, Mr. Yu Chun Man and Mr. Shao Wei. Mr. Law Cho
Kwan Derek is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, four meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and compliance
under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election and the change of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time).

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jiahao, and two INEDs, being Mr.
Yu Chun Man and Mr. Shao Wei. Mr. Yu Chun Man is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jiali, and two INEDs, being Mr. Yu
Chun Man and Mr. Shao Wei. Mr. Yu Chun Man is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

character and integrity

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning
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Nomination Process
(@  Appointment of New Director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held, inter alia, including (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition as well as the diversity of the
Board; (ii) assessed the independence of the INEDs; (iii)
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment of
all the retiring Directors at the Annual General Meeting; and (iv)
recommend to the Board for the consideration the appointment of
Directors during the year. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Linksfield CPA Limited was appointed as the independent auditor of
the Company, for a term until the conclusion of the next AGM,
following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with effect
from 31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the remuneration paid or payable to the auditor of the Company
(including their affiliated firms) for their services rendered is
summarised as below:

ate Governance Report contined
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RMB’000

ARBTT

Audit services EANZRTE 1,000
Non-audit services IEBIZ RS -
Total a5t 1,000

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Linksfield CPA
Limited, on the Company'’s consolidated financial statements are set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 65 to 74 of this
Annual Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, upon the resignation of Ms. Fan Wing Ki (“Ms. Fan”)
as the Company Secretary on 23 June 2021, Mr. Fung Nam Shan
(“Mr. Fung") was appointed as the Company Secretary in place of
Ms. Fan. The primary contact person at the Company during the year
with Ms. Fan and Mr. Fung was Ms. Lin Jianfang, the financial
controller of the Group.

During the year, Ms. Fan and Mr. Fung were responsible for providing
advice to the Board on corporate governance matters. Ms. Fan and
Mr. Fung had confirmed that each of them has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such guestions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Unit B, 23/F., Central 88, No. 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Law"). However, pursuant to the articles
of association, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To reflect the transfer of listing of the issued shares of the Company
from GEM of the Stock Exchange to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 19 December 2019, the articles of association of the
Company has been amended following the passing of a special
resolution by the Shareholders in the 2020 annual general meeting.
Save as disclosed, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the Shareholders and the Company, in general, information
is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through the Company's
interim reports, annual reports and quarterly reports (if any), general
meetings, as well as the corporate communications and publications
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and on the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).
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The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of
the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating
measures. The principal risks and the relevant measures have been
disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Report of the Directors contained in this Annual Report. The
Group's systems of risk management and internal controls are
designed to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement, fraud
or loss.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent internal control
consulting firm and external auditors, conducted a review of, and is
satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2021 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which may
potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on
the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements, future
business growth and its shareholding value.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have
been transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set forth in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-plant
logistics and customisation services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this Annual Report. These discussions form part of this
Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, major risks are summarised below and further details
of the Group'’s financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Concentration risk of reliance on limited humber of
customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue from a limited
number of customers. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
five largest customers of the Group contributed approximately 82.8%
of total revenue to the Group. There is a risk that these significant
customers to cancel or terminate the service agreements with the
Group without cause and no assurance that these significant
customers will continue their business relationship with the Group or
that the revenue generated from these customers will increase or be
maintained in the future. The Group will continue to expand the
customer base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The industry in which the Group operates is fragmented. The Group
may be less competitive than some of its competitors in terms of
scale of operations and cannot assure that it will be able to continue
to compete successfully in its existing markets. The Group is
committed to compete in the market based on its ability to provide
comprehensive, flexible and reliable logistics services to its
customers and price.

Reliance on subcontractors for handling transportation
services

Certain transportation services are subcontracted to independent
third party subcontractors. Performance of our subcontractors for
transportation services may fail to meet the requirements of the
Group or those of our customers which may lead to a delay or failure
in delivering our services to our customers. There is no assurance
that the Group would be able to closely monitor the performance of
the subcontractors but the Group will try to maintain and enhance its
business relationship with the subcontractors for providing good
quality of transportation services to the customers.
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Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (the
“"Pandemic”)

The Group's business is subject to the general economic and social
conditions in China. Pandemics may adversely affect the economy
as well as livelihood of the people. The unprecedented emergence of
the Pandemic in 2020 has led to the implementation of national-wide
preventive measures by the PRC government including travel
restrictions, home quarantine requirements, mandatory close-down
of production facilities, city lockdowns, among others. All these
measures brought disruptions to our business operations in certain
extent and in turn affected our operating results for the year. During
the peak stage of the Pandemic in China, the Group experienced
interruptions of service resumption; provision of transportation
service, in-plant logistics service and warehousing service were
partly interrupted ranging from a few days to a few weeks, resulting
in an increase in revenue generated from these major operation
segments. The development and containment of the Pandemic
remained uncertain amidst the recent rollouts of vaccines in China
and some other countries. Any changes in the development of the
Pandemic, such as rebound of the Pandemic, progress of COVID-19
control, prevalent spread of new virus variants, among others, may
bring both operational and financial impact on the Group's business.
To manage the risks and impact of the Pandemic on the Group’s
operations, the Group will continue to review and act decisively by
enhancing its business plans, ensuring minimal service disruption to
our customers through maintaining a sufficient labour supply and
taking all possible measures, including routine disinfection of
workplace, provision of protective masks, among others, to maintain
a safe working environment for our employees.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Further details are disclosed in
the “"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which will be
published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this Annual Report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 170
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 29(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 79 to 80 of this Annual Report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and accumulated losses,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB12.0 million (2020: RMB1.2 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB51.1 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB37.8 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company'’s share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company or the prospectus
of the Company dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), is
set out on pages 171 to 172 of this Annual Report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following the
Transfer of Listing and in full compliance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) as
rewards or incentives for their contribution to the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue from
time to time, unless with prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.
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The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of () the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option was granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme save for that on 1 June 2020, the Company offered to grant
an aggregate of 73,400,000 share options (the “Share Options”) to
certain Directors, employees and consultants of the Company (the
"Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, under the
Share Option Scheme. The Share Options will enable the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 73,400,000 shares, representing
approximately 9.175% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. The validity period of the Share Options is ten
years from the date of grant and the exercise price of the Share
Options is HK$0.188 per share. The Share Options have no vesting
period. Since then, the Group has not granted any share options
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report.

Details of the options granted to the Grantees under the Share
Option Scheme and movements in such holdings during the year
ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:
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Number of share options
HREsE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Categories of participants Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2021 the year 2021
720215 FR 720215
SHETR RHAH fTERAR BRITER 1818 BT 128318
(Note) (HKS)
(Mit) (E1)
Directors
EE
Mr. Li Jianxin (resigned on 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
21 December 2021) 31 May 2030
REERE (R20216E 12 A21 AFHE) 202056 A1H 2020F6R1RZE
203054318
Mr. Li Jianming (resigned on 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
15 December 2021) 31 May 2030
REEHLE (R2021E 12 A 15 AFHT) 20205618 2020F6F1HZ
2030%F5A31H
Ms. Lin Jianfang (resigned on 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
6 December 2021) 31 May 2030
MAF L (R2021€12 A6 HEHE) 20205 6R1H 2020F6F1HZ
2030F5A31H
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence 1June 2020 1June 2020 t0 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
(resigned on 12 November 2021) 31 May 2030
SEREL (R2021F 11 A12HEF) 202056818 2020F6A18%
203055/ 31H
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 t0 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
(resigned on 12 November 2021) 31 May 2030
BREBT (R2021 11 F12B81F) 202056518 200F6A18E
2030%F5A31H
Mr. Shao Wei 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
AMELE 2020F6A1H 2020F6A18E

2030465A31H
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Number of share options
HREsE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Categories of participants Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2021 the year 2021
#20215% FR 720215
2REFA RHAH fTERAR BRITER 1818 BT 128318
(Note) (HKS)
(Hat) (ET)
Employees
&R
Mr. Li Jiahao (appointed as 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
an executive director on 31 May 2030
4 August 2021)
BEERE(R2021F8 A48 202056818 202056R18E
BEZEARITES) 2030F5A318
Mr. Li Jiali (appointed as 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
an executive director on 31 May 2030
4 August 2021)
RENEE(R2021F8 A48 20206 A1H 2020F6A18E
BZERNITES) 2030F5A318
Others 1 June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 55,400,000 N 55,400,000
31 May 2030
Hit 20200F6A1H 2020F6A18E
2030%F5A31H
Consultants 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 4,400,000 (4,400,000) -
31 May 2030
B 2020F6A18 2020F6A18E
2030F5A31H
Total 73,400,000 (4,400,000) 69,000,000
st

Note: The categories of participants represented the position of grantees as at the date

of grant.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Le Kang (appointed on 6 December 2021)

Mr. Li Jiahao (appointed on 4 August 2021)

Mr. Li Jiali (appointed on 4 August 2021)

Mr. Song Ruipeng (appointed on 15 December 2021)
Mr. Li Jianxin (resigned on 21 December 2021)

Mr. Li Jianming (resigned on 15 December 2021)

Ms. Lin Jianfang (resigned on é December 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Shao Wei

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek (appointed on 12 November 2021)
Mr. Yu Chun Man (appointed on 12 November 2021)

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (appointed on 6 December 2021)
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (resigned on 12 November 2021)
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (resigned on 12 November 2021)

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Jiahao, Mr. Li Jiali, Mr. Shao Wei, Ms. Wong
Carol Ka-low and Mr. Yu Chun Man will retire by rotation and be
eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 23 to 26 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors, namely Mr. Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao and Mr. Li
Jiali, have entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from the date of their respective
appointment date while Mr. Song Ruipeng has not entered into any
service contract for a specific service period.

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shao Wei, Mr.
Law Cho Kwan Derek, Mr. Yu Chun Man and Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low,
have entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
fixed term of one to three years.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ARRCRE S BILIFRTESRBERLNA
SEMBFLHNFEREDEL  RBEAREAH
RIELETRAUNE3BGE - ARFIBA/REES
B RAKE -

EENEREEAERBE

EERARARREEEEREFBENAFRSE
23FE 268 °

ESHNRBEESY

HITER(AEREAE  REEEERBRENE
E)HEARRRI LR HE - BRETANE
ERHEF RP=F  ERKMB LW EFT LM
BHEERBGHRORBEL -

BIUFATER(ABMESLL - BHEMEE R
EXEERERENE) BARBTLREE -
BEEHRH—==F-

BRI RITNRRBFRAE LEENESME
EARRARI AR RAEHE CEERERIN 7T
AR —FERELENRBEL -

EEFHM
EEgRBEARNFRREFRRRBFAGHET
MRERR - RENETESHM - ATEEN
FIASFME R S EM - RRSOFHEMH K2
ZEFNERF &% BE  BHELRRAUARKE
SENREMETE - LBUIFRTESEMS @ &
ENFMOMEZTSRRIMESSNEBER
METE - BE2021F12A3MBILFENESE
BREEABREBREHMA TOFHINFER
RERE B TS TRRFIRES

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

59,



56

Report of the Directors wontines
EEQRSEw

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2021 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2021 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers' liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFQ), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company:

EERESTHRAERKRMD - HE
IR A7 R f8 35 P Y R R 0K

R2021 128318 » FERARAEZRITHRA
ERARASEEMBEEZE(EERES K
ﬁ%%ﬁ%%&&hﬁﬂb%mﬁ@%%m~m
RGO REST  BEREBEELFRAEGKRIE
RESHIBAEMG AR 7 KR e s wmﬁ
(BIEREZBFRBEGROE B SEEE
ARBEAENESIARE)  IRBEFFRAE
1151 88 352 {78 70 817 52 1 1l FiT 15 & 50 it /9 &) e
WIORE SRR _ T AR AT SR 10 FEL_E T T
ANESETESFRHHIRETRIENGARRR
B ATE R SOR B AT ¢

RAR B KRB D AR

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage of
underlying total issued
Shares Shares
Name of Directors Capacity B {7 B tHEA ERTRHAH
EENE 4V BRiE B #Bhaatt
(Note 2)
(fzE2)
Mr. Li Jiahao Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.09%
A% E EmHEAA (Hf3E1)
Mr. Li Jiali Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.09%
R hitaE EnEEA (M=)
Mr. Shao Wei Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.09%
BMEEAE EnEEA (M=)
Notes: Hiat -
1. These interests in underlying Shares represent the interests in share options 1. ZEREERGMERERIRERIETER FTESNE

granted to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme. Details of which are
shown in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 884,400,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Options granted to the Directors as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or (i) requires the Company enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company:
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares and total issued
underlying Shares
Shares BRT
Name of shareholders Capacity B {7 R 40 B {7 #R 8
BREE =4v] B8 E i Fol=32 474
(Note 1)
(PE1)
Mr. Li Jianxin Interest in a controlled corporation, 303,300,000 34.29%
interest held jointly with
another person (Note 1)
REEF KA REGEEER
HE— ATHERENER (FIFE1)
Mr. Li Jianming Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 34.29%
interest held jointly with
another person (Note 1)
RERFE REGEEER
HE— ATHERENER (FIFE1)
Ms. Chen Ruihua Interest of spouse (Note 1) 303,300,000 34.29%
PR ImEE L+ BB aiEss (fHEE1)
Ms. Wu Xiaojie Interest of spouse (Note 1) 303,300,000 34.29%
RNER+ Ao B iR (BEE1)
Goal Rise Profits Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 303,300,000 34.29%
(“Goal Rise Profits”)
EAREERAR((RAME]) EmEEACTE)
Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu") Interest in a controlled corporation 166,700,000 18.85%
(Note 3)
REBRSEA ([REE]D) ZEHhEEER (MEE3)
Portree Wealth Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 166,700,000 18.85%
(“Portree Wealth")
RSBV EARAE EmmAA (FEE3)
([HBEBED
Zhongbei Investment Holding Beneficial owner 80,000,000 9.05%

Group (Hainan) Co., Ltd.
bR EERERE (C8mE) AR AR

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 884,400,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2. Goal Rise Profits is the registered and beneficial owner holding 303,300,000
Shares representing approximately 34.29% of the issued shares of the Company.
The issued share capital of Goal Rise is owned as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and
20% by Mr. Li Jianming. By virtue of acting in concert arrangement between Mr.
Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming which is confirmed and documented in the Concert
Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed
to be interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise Profits in the
Company under the SFO. Ms. Chen Ruihua is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianxin and
accordingly, she was deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Li
Jianxin was interested by virtue of the SFO. Ms. Wu Xiaojie is the spouse of Mr. Li
Jianming and accordingly, she was deemed to be interested in all the shares in
which Mr. Li Jianming was interested by virtue of the SFO.

3. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 18.85% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits
Limited, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed such undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Li Jianxin,
Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits Limited have complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the year ended 31 December
2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no charitable donations
was made by the Group (2020: RMB10,000).
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 23.2% (2020: 46.6%) of the Group’s total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 86.6%
(2020: 77.3%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 82.8% (2020: 86.5%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
40.5% (2020: 30.9%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company will be held on
Friday, 17 June 2022. A notice convening the AGM will be issued and
sent to the shareholders of the Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 13 June 2022 to Friday, 17 June 2022, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or any
adjournment thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 10
June 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In February 2022, the Board of Directors proposes to change the
English name of the Company from “Goal Rise Logistics (China)
Holdings Limited” to “Yues International Holdings Group Limited” and
the dual foreign name in Chinese of the Company from “ & #4757 (&
Bl)IERRARAR" 0 " EREREREEGRAR"

The change of company name was approved by the shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company convened on 23
March 2022 and will take effect subject to approval from the
Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any significant
events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this report.
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Report of the Directors wontines
EEGHE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 31 December 2021. The Board has
resolved to appoint Linksfield CPA Limited (“Linksfield”) as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 31 December 2021 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu. Linksfield shall hold office until the conclusion of the next
AGM pursuant to the Articles of Association. A resolution to re-
appoint Linksfield as the auditor of the Company will be proposed for
approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
& Az B RN R

= LINKSFIELD

e CPA LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOAL RISE LOGISTICS (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Goal Rise Logistics (China)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 75 to 170, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

LINKSFIELD CPA LIMITED
SEERENAEERAERAR

Unit 2001-2, 20/F., Podium Plaza, 5 Hanoi Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o impairment of trade receivables; and

o impairment of the property, plant and equipment.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Key Audit Matters
FREBENFER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
ESEEMNTERERREENERNSE

Impairment of trade receivables
B 53 FE I 2 T {8

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(b) and Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements for the related
disclosures.

EREBRRGEMBHRERMEI D) - K sE4b) R =E
17

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had trade
receivables of approximately RMB45,760,000.
2021512 A310 - AEEE S RKFIEORARE
45,760,000 7T °

Management applied judgment in assessing the
expected credit losses. Receivables relating to
customers with known financial difficulties or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision of expected credit
losses. Expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for
likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature
of the customer, its ageing category, and applying
expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected
loss rates are based on the debtors' aging profiles
over a period of two years and corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.

ERELATEHREEEIEREE R HE - BB B AN
REHE A RONEUGRIE - SUGRAE ) BREF 5 IR
FIE SRR EEEEREETERFE - EEETER
BHEREERRSEEHR T RERIES AR GERER
BB Bt REFLIE - HERRER - UREEHEER
BB R E AN ESGRIERRREE £ - KEFMATEHE
EEENIKRIRE - EAEEEBLETIUEBABRE
MF MM BRERL R ZBRNRBER L EEEEAE
e o B S ESHRLL R NS AR AR E R P (T FERGRIE
W REBSERZNE /I RAEIEEHR -

We performed the following procedures to address the key
audit matter:
REBEERENFE  ZADETUATRER

Understood, evaluated and validated, on a sample
basis, the key control procedures over the
management’s estimation of expected credit losses
allowance and periodic review of aged receivables and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors associated with
estimating the expected credit l0sses;

LA TH  SEREEERERABREESER
#H I E B EAR A e YR IE FRIEHIE T - WERER
BRI REERE R HEA TR ATEHEEBEAENESR
B A2 - BTG IR E AR SRR ) & A [E R

Obtained management’s assessment on the expected
credit losses allowance of receivables. We corroborated
and validated, on a sample basis, management’s
assessment based on the debtors’ aging profiles over a
period of two years, correspondence with the
customers, evidence from external sources including
the relevant market research regarding the relevant
forward-looking information such as macroeconomic
factors used in management’s assessment,
EREREMEVREEREEBEEREBELTME - &
MRS AERARBE  BERERBEBAMFEHRHEA
WEREARR - BPEH - RBINBAHOIRK B R (B IESAE
BRTEHEER I ERERTAREANRBLEER
= EITHRETISTR) - FTER AR

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Key Audit Matters
REBENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
ESEENTRERREENERNSE

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)
RBERFREE (=)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables balance and the estimation and
judgment involved in determining the expected credit
losses allowance of the trade receivables.
BOEFRUAE  DERE S RKFIBGROELT
IRETEZEVGIEEREEBERE Y RNTEAK
FIET

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021

o Involved our internal valuation expert to develop an
auditor’s point estimate in assessing the expected
credit losses allowance including forward-looking
information;,

. HERMOABEEZRRUTHEREEEERE (21
ATRE I E R e A SR A B (e 5T

o Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile
of trade receivables by checking to the underlying sales
invoices, and

. FRBERAHEEEE  UHEFVIHE S RIEFIER
BRARN Y ERE &

o Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement of
trade receivables against bank receipts.

. A AERBTUIRARE 5 RIEIENEE BEN
HERER -

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation and
judgment made by management in respect of the expected
credit losses allowance and the collectability of trade
receivables were supported by the available evidence.
EREX  BMRAEEERBEMNEERBERERE ZEUGK
TR AT W ER2E R Ve A TE ORI S HI T - ThiE A B IR 55 o
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Key Audit Matters
FREBENFER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
ESEEMNTERERREENERNSE

Impairment of the property, plant and equipment
V¥ BERRERE

Refer to Note 4(a) and Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for the related disclosures.
R ERLEVBMEN T 40) RMFE14 -

Management performs assessment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment may not be
recoverable. In carrying out the impairment
assessment, management identified and determined
cash-generating units ("CGUSs") and performed the
assessment for individual CGUs as required by HKAS
36 “Impairment of assets”.
MEERIEHNIERANEBRTYE  BERFZENRE
EAFTYE - BIREAGEITRT M o REFTRIER AR -
EREHNREEREEFASN(REEESM]) - I
REBGHEAEF [EERE] REHEMNRSE
B TR o

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has ceased using certain warehouses arising from the
reception of a notice of land resumption plan from the
government, resulting in relocation to new
warehouses and the certain leasehold improvement
and equipment can not be relocated to the new
warehouses. The compensation from the landlord of
the relevant warehouses or the government are
subject to multiple conditions and events take place
and the amount could not be reliably estimated at the
end of the reporting period. This represented an
impairment indicator of the property, plant and
equipment within that CGU. The total property, plant
and equipment that can not be relocated amounted to
approximately RMB16,479,000 and impairment for
such amount was made for the year ended 31
December 2021.
RBE2021F12ANBILEFE AEBREKEBN B
BT BUGTEINBAMELERETAE - WiKkEE
MEE  MAETHERERERBREREBIFEE -
REAMEREEXEEIBTHEESZIBGEREHRR -
FRIEARGEN IS BRI SN - LAY - BE K
FBENZREEELANREDR - RELRBHNWE -
B K B 4R 5B 40 B AR #516,479,000 7T T a% ZEHY
RECKREE2021512 A31 B LEFEIEH -

We performed the following procedures to address the key
audit matter:
REBRERESNFE  ZADETATRER

] Understood and evaluated the internal controls over
the determination of individual CGUSs, the identification
of relevant CGU having impairment indicators and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

. TR RFHMEEEERR S EE BN RER A REDNR A
IS EEBCHALIES - U RERE BRI
BEREMEARREAZ(FINEMEE 81 &
REBEHRRRIEEFN AT aEE) - S EHRERER
ot A [ 8 LR
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Key Audit Matters
REBENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
ESEENTRERREENERNSE

Impairment of the property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Y BERRMHEE(Z)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
relevant balances, the higher degree of estimation
uncertainty and subjectivity in management’s
judgment involved to determine the recoverable
amounts of these assets.

BMEFRRAE  DHAEEESRNEE  BANS
ETREN  ANREBEZFEENTREIFRIBAE LA
EIRE R P R ) E BRI o
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Evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
assessment process on CGU determination and
impairment indicator identification by:

AL EIR N E TR IR S A AL AR E I R ET AL
BERREE AR

— Enquiring of management on their basis of
identifying impairment indicators and testing the
underlying supporting documents;

— RNEEBEEARSHENBRETROESE
8 78 B S

IR AE

— Challenging the judgments made in the
identification of impairment indicators; and
—  HEERRERREDREATEDLAHE &

— Interviewing relevant government department for
the latest situation of land resumption plan.
—  FIRMERERTEPTA B L BUGH R ST E R -

Understood and evaluated the procedures performed
by management in estimating the recoverable amounts
and reviewed and evaluated the source documents
supporting management’s estimation of the recoverable
amounts, including but not limited to the lease
agreements, removal notice issued by the local
government and legal opinion from the legal expert.

TR RAHEEEEN A AT R EFIEREL R - W
R E IR ETRR T B SIER R X 4 - BIEE
TRNEETZE S HBUNBEANIFE BN EEERD
ERER

Based on the above, we were satisfied that management’s
impairment assessments on property, plant and equipment

were supported by the available evidence.

ER X RMEAEREHYE  BE REREEL 0 ET
s o4 B PR B R S
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021

BRBEAREAFSMBERREARE
HEE

BEENERIMGEAMBHRRERREL T FESR
R RO (T B R R S &R ) IS & 1B AR
& WHAHAESEANKREMEE - B5E
AEERRBEERER  TMEEMLRAZ BF
EARAHE AR AEFAEMALAEEETRE
B - ARRERSKFHORE  BXTERER
REBETEMETNETEFEERERRL
4B RE B IR - SRERPRA AT A BRFF Sk BA AR B 42 -
IMREEFANEEERELER AT EERE
REZFRAMBHRERMELNEERTE - Al
BASH R AT AR RE K o

ERIRBERBEJNEUETEAN—FD  BF
FEEESFOBETER TEEHE  RETEH

EEREE - BEI

o BRIMFHEARRFFRERMEBEEY
BRERFEEAHERRANER - ReT R
WITRFEF AR ELERR - ARER
ARMEAZNETRE  UWABEFNER
REER - ARNHGFATRES R BER - ik
BERER - EREL - 0EBE R A EES
2L At REHRBRRABFEMEHNEXN
R ER SN REERABRTE
B E AR BRUL A RS o

o TREEHEBONDEH - LEHES
BT EEOEHEF A ML HE
¥ EEEABEHNEREERER -

o FHEEEMERAETERENREERME
HEstA AR IREN SR -



Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)

B ST A BB R o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwok Chi Kan.

Linksfield CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Consolidated Income Statement

AN e

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B Z2021412A31H 1FF/Z

2021 2020
20215 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AR®TT AREEFIT
Revenue WS 6 211,779 185,198
Other income and gains, net E U A Rk a5 7 4,055 1,411
Employee benefits expenses BERMMEX 8 (71,682) (72,854)
Subcontracting expenses AEFAX (80,235) (46,483)
Lease payment relating to short-term %S EATR S - M E &
leases 15(b) (28,282) (9,134)
Impairment of property, M - B &EERE
plant and equipment 14 (16,479) -
Depreciation of property, Y - BEMERETE
plant and equipment 14 (1,912) (3,143)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15(b) (9,658) (17,325)
Other expenses HEfx 9 (26,705) (27,218)
Operating (loss)/profit s (F518), s A (19,119) 10,452
Finance costs BE Bk AR 10 (1,963) (3,438)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BEFiSREI(5E)/ &% (21,082) 7,014
Income tax credit/(expense) FrefiER/ (Bix) 11 3,980 (4,551)
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(BHR) EF (17,102) 2,463
(Loss)/earnings per share EAFHER AEE S
attributable to the owners (BiR) 27
of the Company
Basic and diluted (in RMB cents) ERREE(ARESD) 13 (2.12) 0.31

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

R M 2 B 52 [ o B — D B -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
/\\/T\ I:I EF_\@J’I& %%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412A31H 1FF/Z

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

(Loss)/profit for the year  FAMER), B (1z,102) 2,463
other comprehensive loss Hth2mER
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HiErjfeEF H HZE#=EE -

to profit or l0ss:
Exchange difference arising on translation — #EGINEFEE+ VBN 245

of foreign operations (233) -
Other comprehensive loss for the year, BB FNE M 2 HEE

net of tax (233) -

Total comprehensive (loss)/income #FATRHAEABGEARE
for the year attributable to (BR) hasE
the owners of the Company (17,335) 2,463

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should il 4 2 TS & e R e b B s — 00038 -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR A IO R

At 31 December 2021 R2021412831H

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
KtaF AR®TT AREETF T
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WME - WER&RE 14 2,294 20,431
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a)(i) 9,094 49,495
Rental deposits HEZe 17 572 3,192
Financial assets at fair value through  #ZAF(EE ABZEH
profit or loss SREE 16 6,000 -
17,960 73,118
Current assets mENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H bW R IE 17 58,424 79,943
Bond measured at amortised cost LABE SR AN ET 2 (E S 18 40,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents HERIRESEED 19 68,162 74,965
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 166,586 154908
Total assets HEE 184,546 228,026
EQUITY g
Equity attributable to ENFIHEAREES
the owners of the Company
Share capital A&7 22 7,450 6,761
Reserves EiE 123,179 127,477
Total equity ERWEE 130,629 134,238

‘AR (FE) ERERDE / —T— FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continea
A B R SR

At 31 December 2021 R2021412H31H

2021 2020
20215 2020 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
K et AR®TR ARBT T
LIABILITIES =1
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Lease liabilities %ﬂi% 15(a)(ii) 6,337 36,571
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTSREAR 24 489 456
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 6826 37027
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 RHARERFRIA 20 43,032 26,716
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(a)(1i) 3,286 15,070
Bank borrowing SRITHEX 21 - 10,000
Current income tax liabilities ENHAp SR B & 773 4,975
.. 47091 56781
Total liabilities HaRE 53,917 93,788
Total equity and liabilities BaRAEESE 184,546 228,026
The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 170 were £ 75F 170 B MG A &R 2N 20224F3 A

approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and were 30 BEEEGH & - WHTHEERREE

signed on its behalf by:

Le Kang Li Jiahao
R REE

Director Director
EF s

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be AR A B 7S SR 3R P& (B BE MY I 5 — OFBERE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N\ /=4
/ N\ /o

NSNS

2R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B Z2021412A31H 1FF/Z

Attributable to the owners of the Company

LN EPN
Share-
based
Share Share Statutory Other payment Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Total
BipER
BF RREBE HEREFE HtRE GRRE ERIREFE  FEEAN it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note i) (Note i)
(W) (W)
At 1 January 2020 202061718 6,761 37,763 9,023 27,094 - - 45,522 126,163
Comprehensive income 2Eka
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 2,463 2,463
Total comprehensive income ERNANEEE
for the year - - - - - - 2,463 2,463
Transactions with owners  BHEANTS
Share-based payment BRIDERHTH - - - - 5612 - - 5,612
Transfers to statutory reserves BREELTRE - - 1,583 - - - (1,583) -
- - 1,583 - 5,612 - (1,583) 5,612
At 31 December 2020 and R2020F 127318 R
1 January 2021 20211818 6,761 37,763 10,606 27,094 5,612 - 46,402 134,238
Comprehensive income 2EHE
Loss for the year FRER = = = = = - (17,02)  (17,102)
Other comprehensive income Efi2EkK&
Exchange difference arisingon  HREBINERES
translation of foreign operations  [EX =% = = - - - (233) - (233)
Total comprehensive loss FRZEBREE
for the year - - - - - (233)  (17,102)  (17,335)
Transactions with owners ~ BEEANTH
Issue of shares through share BRRNRBEIRG
subscription (Note 22(a) (H5t22(3) 653 12,397 - - - - - 13,050
Issue of shares upon exercise RTEBREMZETRG
of share options (Note 23) (Hi#£23) 36 975 - - (335) - - 676
689 13,372 - - (335) - - 13,726
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A318 7,450 51,135 10,606 27,094 5,277 (233) 29,300 130,629
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be | it 43 & 4 25 & Bh 3= iz 338 7 Ba B B 5 — 0F B8

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

B o

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity «oninea

A

A KESE B S

For the year ended 31 December 2021 # 22021 12431H I F/E

Notes:

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of the Company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, the subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit
after taxation, as determined under the relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC, to a non-
distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’
losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

Amount comprises of:

RMB3,550,000 arising from the effect of the conversion of Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co. Ltd. ("Guangzhou World-Link") into a joint stock
company with limited liability in 2016 whereas the excess of the net
assets over the designated conversion amount attributable to the owners
of the Company is recognised in a non-distributable reserve;

RMB3,449,000 arising from a group reorganisation in 2016 pursuant to
which the entire registered capital of Guangzhou World-Link was acquired
by a group entity from its then shareholders. Upon completion of the
above transactions, the balance of the retained profits and non-
distributable reserve of Guangzhou World-Link attributable to the owners
of the Company is recognised in a non-distributable reserve; and

RMB20,095,000 due to capital contributions from certain shareholders of
the Company in 2017.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ fﬁiﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 B Z2021412A31H 1FF/Z

2021 2020
20215 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AER®TT ARBT T
cash flows from operating EETHMELETRSRE
activities
Cash generated from operating CEEHFEERE
activities 27(a) 6,645 21,335
Income tax paid TSR (188) (4,630)
Net cash generated from operating BB EEIR©FFE
activities 6,457 16,705
cash flows from investing BRETHMELETRSRE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and EBEME  BEE&E
equipment 14 (301) (3,788)
Investment in financial assets BN ERAEZD
at fair value through profit or loss SRIEENRE (6,000) -
Interest income received EUFEHA 762 1,114
Net cash used in investing activities REERSMARE FH (5,539) (2,674)
Cash flows from financing MEETEHRMELERERE
activities
Repayments of lease liabilities EERERRE 27(b) (9,250) (15,994)
Interest payments of lease liabilities YREEa B A 27(b) (1,389) (3,307)
Interest paid for bank borrowing A ERITIE TS 27(b) (574) (131)
Proceeds from bank borrowing RITERAFT1SRIE 27(b) - 10,000
Repayment on bank borrowing BERBITER 27(b) (10,000) -
Proceeds from share subscription R0 SR P18 2018 22(a) 13,050 S
Proceeds from exercise TR AR PRI IR
of share options 23 676 -
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEREFARSFE (7,487) (9,432)

eI (RE) BRERAR T E4%H g1



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continued
meaReRER®

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021412A31H 1FF/Z

2021 2020
20215 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR®TT ARBT T
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BekReFEMCRL),/
and cash equivalents #hnHEa (6,569) 4,599
Cash and cash equivalents FUHReMREEEY
at the beginning of the year 74,965 71,419
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& =@ &5 2 (234) (1,053)
Cash and cash equivalents FREMREEFEY
at the end of the year 19 68,162 74,965

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in il AR RE R EERMBEN T —4E
conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o

82  Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021



GENERAL INFORMATION

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park PO Box 1350 Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Unit B, 23/F., Central 88, No. 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and together
with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-
plant logistics and customisation services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (“‘RMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRS, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL"), which are carried at fair
values.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.1 HRBIEE
FREVBRERERBEE BN BHREE
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8l - BEEHEN(ESGHERD
k@) BEAREHRIRES
NEMEBIE 622 ZREERE o ILER
B BHRERDIRBEL KA ERE
Wt EMIE A FEF AER ([RAF
Bt AB&=]) UAFEIERZ SHE
EELIBET -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

83



84

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

5 4 B 7 SRR P

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards, improvements and
interpretation for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing on 1 January 2021:

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and Reform
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent
concessions

The amendments above did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
AT A BT ISR R EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for the current reporting period and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

2 FESHBEEBE#®)
1 RREAE )
(b) MRIEAMEFTER - BT A
BB

TR FTRTER  EET AR RE
B AR MRS 7R S HA 3 3 08
BB TT R AN R B R R R
G

Effective for
annual periods

beginning
on or after
RTIBEER &
FlREY R E R
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent Concession 1 April 2021
Beyond 2021
BB REERF 165% IERTA) 2021 F &K COVID-19HBHEEE R 20214 A1H

Annual Improvements Project
(Amendments)
FEYEIER (BFTA)

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16, HKAS 37
(Amendments)

BAMGEREERE IR
EASEERE 165 - BESH
AERIEE 37 5% (185 )

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

g&tHE315 (ER])

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BERGTERIE 15 (BRTX)

HKFRS 17
ERUBHREENF 175

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle
(Amendments)

2018 5 = 2020 F IR HA Y F E U (IBRTA)

Narrow-Scope Amendments

ERBERE ZEFT

Revised Accounting Guideline 5
— Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combination
LAEET g5t i85] 5— HRAEHIE 2
aHgsE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-Current
DEBEBERARBIIERE

Insurance Contracts
1 AA =] Q\’]

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

1 January 2022

202251 A1 H

1 January 2022

20221 H1H

1 January 2022

202251 A1 H

1 January 2023

20231 H1H

1 January 2023
2023F1A18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A B TS SRR B T oo

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FES:BEHME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) AREIELAE (@)
(b) New standards, amendments and (b) MRRAEEFTER - BT
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued) k2R (E)
Effective for
annual periods
beginning
on or after
RTI ARz ®
FAMRBY R R £ 3
HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 January 2023
BB MELRE 175 (BATAR) FEVBMESENE 179 2ER] 20231 A1H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)  Classification by the Borrower of a Term 1 January 2023
(Amendments) Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
BAREBESH (2020F) (B5]R) BERERERGINTHERERASE 202341818

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Statement 2 (Amendments)
BEAGTERE 1R LEBMG SR BRI 2023F 1A 1H
MEEEBMESE 29 (BFTR)
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BAGEERIE 85 (BF]R) FEHEEIER 20231 H1H
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 1 January 2023
Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

B GTERIE 1258 (BETAR) BE-RGELEZEENABERBELERE 2023F1H1H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets Between To be determined
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture
ARV BERE10RREESE WEFEREBENTNEERFZ 55E
AERIEE 28 5% (185TAN) BELEIFEA

86  Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FE@iBE#E%)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 mEEE g
(b) New standards, amendments and (b) MRERMAFTER - BFT A
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued) k2B (E)

The directors have assessed the financial impact
on the Company of the adoption of the above new
standards, amendments to existing standards,
interpretations and accounting guideline. These
standards and amendments are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group in the future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions. The Group intends to adopt the above
new standards, amendments to existing standards,
interpretations and accounting guideline when they
become effective.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group.

2.2

EECHFHRA L AT
A MBEANEBITR 2B
K&t sl B AR QR &R e
BRE - BRI REREARIEFT
AT R R e 5 AT e AT 7B R
ARZZHETEHAEEE
RERTE - REBHFNER
BERW LRI ER)  IRBE
AIMMERT A - R st R o

B S 2 7
MEBAREAREREENROMRE
ER(RRERER)  EAXARERR
HERLEERMAGAIHEER - B
BRENEBETEEREXB N
EZEOEE - AAEEEGHZE
B-MBARBEHRTZ2EBER
SEZ BRGE AR « HREHIEL
L7 AEEIERAE AR -

BHYBERN A EBEBAHZE
s -

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised FEANRAEIMRS - #EHRRZFHR
gains on transactions between group companies are FIA W T A o REREEITT
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless S - BRIEX S EBBRETRTEE

the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of

BEMBERE - NRRIEELERBR
THHBE AR <G ERRELER
ATEOR B 62 [ P ER AR 2 BRER — B »

NUR) NI SVSL: S 22 T

subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated @AREBRINGEERAR - 2H
income statement, statement of comprehensive income, WK BRIV BERRE -

statement of changes in equity and statement of financial
position respectively.

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
A ISR T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FES:HHEFEHE &)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations 23 EBEH

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired entity,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

] fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

J acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
& B & 2R MY eE e

AR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

FTESTHEHRE )

the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

2.3 Business combinations (continued) 23 EBEattE
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired iﬂ’ﬁFﬂﬁz%ﬁ%&%ﬂﬁ?i%@ﬁ’]“ﬂ?@
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than C EEFEARENR - W it e s
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
e EEe

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment in the separate financial statements of the
Company. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investments in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors, who makes strategic
decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
SO PBREN T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

0}

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB"), which is the
functional currency of the Company and
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement on a net basis within “other
income and gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or l0ss.

2
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position,

. income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions),
and

. all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

FTESTHEHRE )

2.7 W% - BWELRiE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements

20% per annum

20% per annum

20% per annum

Over the shorter of
remaining lease term or
20% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each financial
year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and gains, net” in
the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
A ISR T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there is separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of the
financial year.

Investments and other financial assets
2.9.1Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
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2.9.1 Classification (Continued) 291908 (&)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.9.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or 1oss.

29.2

2.9.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

& BT SR M 2

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

2.9.3 Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

2.9.4Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9"), which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
AT A BT ISR R EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

FTESTHEHRE )

210 HERMTE

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the
counterparty.

2.11 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The
liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9, and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
("HKFRS 15").

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required under
the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
values and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value, and bank overdrafts. For cash subjected to
restriction, assessment is made on the economic
substance of the restriction and whether they meet the
definition of cash and cash equivalents.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business, if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Borrowings

FTESTHEHRE )

216 &%

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there
iS no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in consolidated statement profit
or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

5 4 B 7 SRR P

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs include interest expense and finance
charges in respect of finance lease. They are recognised
in consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the financial
year period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the Group has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Investment allowances and similar tax
incentives

Companies within the Group may be entitled to
claim special tax deductions for investments in
qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying
expenditure. The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current
tax expense.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021

2

FTESTHEHRE )

218 B MR EFT1SHE (48)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

EEFTSHL(F)

168 &0 R 38 B 31T B R A A
B EEEREAE UK
BIRER BRI S MR — TR
BHE EXCHRAEERARE
AIE MR - MERERIER
SRHITEEEN - XA R
BEFREEGEARSERE
EMBERER  BHHESR
EENAAERMEEEE -

REMUREURKERD

AEBARRBRATEER
BERBEINAERHAXHB
RIS R - AEEAKEHR
MEARSBBE R - BIRK
7 R A P S K B HA R
AR -

8

EA R ARITREN A A5 A
A A B BB H IR A E IR
#H AEECHBEEENAE
% Ko A (R — 150 7% H B Tt B AR 7
ERSAENFREELEES
R TRERTE BB AAE
o AEEHRBEEENBER
T -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

0}

(ii)

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates and pays contributions to
defined contribution schemes which are available
for all employees in the PRC, Hong Kong and
overseas offices, where applicable. The assets of
these schemes are held in separate trustee-
administered funds. Both the Group and the
employees are required to contribute based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
according to the related local labour laws where
the Group operates. Contributions are made on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid.

The employees of the Group'’s subsidiary in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
certain percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions under the schemes. During both
current and prior years, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the scheme and
charged to the profit or loss represent contributions
paid/payable to the scheme by the Group at rate
specified in the rules of the scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
A ISR T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Employee leaves entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision, where appropriate, is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the date of
consolidated statement of financial position.
Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.20 Share-based payments

(@

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options,
shares and convertible bonds) of the Group. The
fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options, shares and
convertible bonds is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price),

. excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining as an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

AR

B BRI FE®

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Share-based payments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions (Continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied.

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited
prior to the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the “Share-based payment reserve”
will be transferred to the “Retained earnings” within
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
goods or service is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
transfer over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FE@iBE#E%)
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Revenue recognition (continued) 2.22 WA HERR (4

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e., only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant. The Group does
not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds
one year. As a practical expedient, the Group does not
adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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A ISR T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service

Transportation service represents delivery of the
customers’ inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and Egypt.

Warehousing service represents provision of
inventory storage and management services in the
Group's warehouses located in the PRC with
specified physical conditions.

In-plant logistics service represents provision of
wide-range of in-house services at customers’
manufacturing plants to integrate the production
processes, which cover the management of the
movements of (a) production materials and
components and work-in progress to the
production lines within the manufacturing plants of
the customers of the Group; and (b) delivery of
finished goods to the factory gates of the relevant
customers deployed by staff of the Group at its
customers' manufacturing plants.

Revenue from the from the provision of the
transportation service, warehousing service and in-
plant logistics service is recognised when the
Group provides the services and all of the benefits
are received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer throughout its contract period. Thus, the
Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognised revenue over time and the Group has
present right to payment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Customisation service

Customisation service represents provision of
labelling services (i.e. sticking labels onto the
surface of the inventory according to customers'’
instructions) and the bundling services (i.e. bundling
the inventory to facilitate handling and
transportation) generally provided inside the
Group’s warehouses.

Revenue from customisation service is recognised
at a point in time when the customers accept the
services and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised over time using the
effective interest method.

2.23 Earnings per share

i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Earnings per share (continued)

(ii)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account the after-income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted
average number of additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.24 Leases

(@

(b)

As the lessor

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor
conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or
series of payments, the right to use an asset for an
agreed period of time.

When assets are leased out under an operating
lease, the asset is included in the balance sheet
based on the nature of the asset.

Lease income on operating leases is recognised
over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

As the lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 1. eases (continued)

(b)

As the lessee (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed lease
payments. Lease payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options are also
included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions. To determine the incremental
borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses
recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received and makes any
adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 | eases (continued)

(b)

As the lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability,

. prepayment, and

. any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
premises and all leases of low-valued assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 1. eases (continued)

(b)

As the lessee (Continued)

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of
lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company'’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting
event and are not recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

2

FTESTHEHRE )

224 & (#)

(b) {ERFMEA ()
« BEmEMRE EN
GES RS LT PR
5 8 0 B S (R - 00 b
BRBWEEAS QBT
13 B SLBAR R A £
i -

BRI IEIER—HEBHE ALK
MEEERIMS  AEESE
BIERERT B B R ERT
FIRERFREETHEN
REETHENAMENGE

AEEBEBHABEREEE
HITHERAE  UEHEEE
BEMAEAR - BEHE
HWESHEARE D AR —1E
&% ERRIIMEE R IR EAK
Mol AEBEREEEAK
BoMBEEERMIFEE
ARRER D B BIR AR
EREHTFOREIEERE
HEHBKED -

225 B3R

A A% SR 0 K H B S A B AR A R
ERIEE(RERBTRME) HLAE
MHREA - RERMBHRRERRE

& e

RERRENGE M B RRERE
TIEAZRRE RO ERERIFA
BEH TERNHREMRERSE

E

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

113



114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

e 5 B T SRR M S

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all the
attached conditions.

Government grants are recognised as income over the
period necessary to match them with the related costs
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic
basis.

2.27 Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is:

(@ A possible obligation that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence and non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

(b) A present obligation that arises from past events
but is not recognised because:

(i) Itis not probably that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefit will be required

to settle the obligation; or

(i) The amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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AR

B M HRR M e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including price, foreign exchange and
interest rate), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effect on the Group's financial
performance.

(@) Market risk

0]

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of the
Group's financial assets at FVPL will fluctuate
as a result of changes in market prices,
whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual investment or factors
affecting all instruments in the market.

In arriving at the fair value of the financial
assets at FVPL, the Group may use valuation
technigues which require the estimation of
key variables. Details of the valuation method
and the sensitivity analysis for the possible
impact given a reasonable shift in the key
variable are set out in Note 3.3.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

EEEARERE 2
3.1 erEREZE)

(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) WEREE)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (i)  SMEE B
The Group hold monetary assets or liabilities REBFFHAIINE T E

denominated in foreign currencies, which can
be affected by currency fluctuations and
expose to currency risks.

The Group currently does not have foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign

MEEAERAR T
A ESLTUIT ¥

I 7 GE T e B B L o

7R 5 [ 3R B A HMNIS S 0
BEe R BEEER
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exchange exposure and will consider hedging REFRERZEH+IE
significant foreign currency exposure should RINEE [ Bz o

the need arise.

The Group's currency risk is mainly
attributable to exposure on outstanding bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade and
other payables denominated in foreign
currencies. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States dollar (“USD")
and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e BRI EE e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in post-tax loss (2020: a decrease in
post-tax profit) for the reporting period where
RMB strengthens 5% against the relevant
foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against the relevant foreign currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax 10ss (2020: post-tax profit).

SREAREE®)
31 2RtREREZE@)
@ TIEER ()
(i) SNEmB(B)

BRE DT

TRERARE NG
DN FHE R B 18 5% B A
o B 1) GURE o 5% 15T
BEHIEERSET
BB T o BURE
DT 2 B 35 R 18 B S g
SHEEHIER PR E
H 5K 3t 5% 4 9N s ok
PRABBRE UTEH
FORH A R I8 355 B 5
HEFHE 5% + 7 8745 HR
0 1 4 14 B 9848 111 (2020
£ BBERFIRD) o
AR A BN
5%« 5 &HBRBIERE
18(20204F : B W 16 %%
) B ZEARNTE -

Change in
exchange Impact on
Net assets T E%EEn rate post-tax
denominated in: HESHE +/-iIn% loss/profit
EFEEH 535511 -
I8 REsk BRTHREE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT
As at 31 December 2021 ®2021%12A31H
—USD — T (1,367) (1,155)
As at 31 December 2020 #20205%12A 318
— HKD — &t 6) 4)
— USD — X (871) (657)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities other than cash at banks,
bond measured at amortised cost and bank
borrowing.

In the opinions of the directors, the interest
income derived from the bank balances is
insignificant and the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bond
measured at amortised cost (31 December
2020: bank borrowing) bore fixed interest
rates which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. Management considers the
fair value interest rate risk is insignificant to
the Group.

The Group has not used any financial
instrument to hedge the interest rate risk that
it is exposed to currently. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refer to the risk that the counter-party
fails to meet its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. The credit risk of the
Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables, bond measured at amortised cost and
deposits with banks. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
measure the expected credit losses ("ECL") for
trade receivables resulting from HKFRS 15.

The Group applies the general approach in HKFRS 9
to measure the expected credit losses for balances
not qualified for simplified approach. The general
approach which uses a three-stage model to
calculate the loss allowances. According to the
changes of credit risk of financial instruments since
the initial recognition, the Group calculates the
expected credit losses by three stages:

A financial instrument of which the
credit risk has not significantly increase
since initial recognition. The amount
equal to 12-month expected credit
losses is recognised as loss allowance.

Stage 1:

Stage 2. A financial instrument with a significant
increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but is not considered to be
credit-impaired. The amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses is

recognised as loss allowance.

A financial instrument is considered to
be credit-impaired as at the end of the
reporting period. The amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses is
recognised as loss allowance.

Stage 3:

3 sEEAREE#)

3.1
(b)

TRIARREZE®)

FERE
EERRESF I RERTE
BHNEBEBAKENBER
MER - ARENEERRE
BHEHNEMBUIE A
BHRATENEFRRTE
REL - REAMBIRRARA
%ﬁmﬁéiﬂ@ﬂ%@ﬁﬁ%ﬂiﬁ
MEERR -

AEECERBOEFTERE
FBmELRESREENE
ZRWFBEMEREEE (1]
HEEERD -

RNEEERAE SRS 2R
FOR—MEAHETA B
BROEHNTEHEESIE -
— AR = AR RERE
BiEE - RESBRIAREE
Rk E VR ERENEE - K
EEN=ERRTEEEREE
B

FIEER: HREERREGRE
RERBEEMOE R
TA RER12MEAE
HEEFRNSRER
RREEEE -
F2ME: HREERREVGHE
RECBEEMEHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

Significant increase in credit risk is assessed by
comparing the risk of default of an exposure at the
reporting date with the risk of default at origination
(after considering the passage of time). “Significant”
does not mean statistically significant nor is it
reflective of the extent of the impact on the Group'’s
financial statements. Whether a change in the risk
of default is significant or not is assessed using
quantitative and qualitative criteria, e.g. payment
being past due by more than certain amount of
days.

Assessment of credit-impaired

Credit-impaired financial assets comprise those
assets that have experienced an observed credit
event and are in default. Default represents those
assets that are unlikely to pay, such as bankruptcy,
fraud or death. This definition is consistent with
internal credit risk management and the regulatory
definition of default.

Bank balances

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are several reputable
and creditworthy banks. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these
banks and financial institutions as they have no
default history in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
immaterial and no provision was made as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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B BRI FE®

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has
concentration of credit risk in trade receivables as
70% and 83% (2020: 45% and 94%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the top five largest customers
respectively. The management of the Group
considers the credit risk of amounts due from these
customers is insignificant after considering
historical settlement records and forward-looking
information. Collections of outstanding receivable
balances are closely monitored on an ongoing
basis to minimise such credit risk.

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach for
measuring the ECL, which use a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.

The expected loss rates are based on the debtors’
aging profiles over a period of 2 years and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within the period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product index of the countries and etc.,
to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

3 sEEAREE#)

3.1
(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
A ISR T

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on trade receivables individually. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

According to above mentioned consideration, the
Group does not expect any significant default
possibility and loss allowance of trade receivables
are immaterial as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Deposits, other receivables and bond measured at
amortised cost

The Group adopted general approach for expected
credit loss of deposits, other receivables and bond
measured at amortised cost. The Group considered
these financial assets have not significantly
increased in credit risk from initial recognition.
Thus, these financial assets are classified in stage
one and only considered 12-month expected credit
losses. Considering the history of default, credit
quality of the counterparties and forward-looking
factor, the expected credit loss is immaterial as at
31 December 2021 and 2020.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

3 SRRARERE®)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRtEREZRE@®
Liquidity risk (c) REBELEAK
With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group REEREMETRDE SR
aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash RER BEAKFATNES
equivalents and ensure the availability of funding MR eEEBYRERABRAT
through an adequate amount of available financing, ERECHE(BERHARITE
including short-term bank borrowings. It is the F)BREBIRAES - AEEH
policy of the Group to regularly monitor current and Eﬁf—%mﬁﬁ B RFEHR
expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that PESHR UREREBEH
adequate funding is available for operating, WESATAREE  KRE K
investing and financing activities. BiEE -
The table below analyses the Group’s non- TRETAEERIEITET
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity & RBAEESIIEBAER -
groupings based on the remaining period at the BERBREAREARIEAR
end of the reporting period to the contractual BRI ER B EIT D AT © ER A
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table BENSERASOMEREEW
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. WEME °
Undiscounted cash flows
FUBHRERE
Less than 1to Over Carrying
1year 5 years 5 years Total amounts
PR1E 1E5% S5&HL #st REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT ARETR
As at 31 December 2021 R2021%12A31H
Trade and other payables 5 R EMENFE 36,164 - - 36,164 36,164
Lease liabilities MERE 3,701 6,748 - 10,449 9,623
39,865 6,748 - 46,613 45,787
As at 31 December 2020 1#2020%12A318
Trade and other payables Z5REMENTR 18,442 - - 18,442 18,442
Bank borrowing RITIER 10,354 - - 10,354 10,000
Lease liabilities REERE 17,483 37513 2,952 57,948 51,641
46,279 37,513 2,952 86,744 80,083

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of bank borrowing and lease liabilities less the sum of
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital represents total
equity as shown on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Since the amount of cash and cash equivalents exceeded
the sum of lease liabilities and bank borrowing, the Group
is at net cash position, thus the gearing ratio was not
applicable as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised
into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2. Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
assets or liabilities, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices).
Level 3:  Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).

The following table presents the Group's financial assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

3

cREREE &)
NEEEE

TRZABRAFEZ SERMPT R
ABEBENER - AR FEIIRZ
SRT A - BRBAZBIIRT A
A EEARFERERND =(EZ
A

FE: HREEXEBERERT
BHRE CREFHE) -

F2fp: EEXRAGBEZR(AMN
B HREZE(BREE
&) BRNEARE(F
1R BIERRERIN)

F3F/ . BERBBEILIFKETE

EMBRBENEABE
(BN TR BRBARE) ©

TR Y AEER 2021 F K 2020 4F
1ZANBIRATEFENEREE
REafE -

Level 3
E3W
2021 2020
20214 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEF AR
TREE 6,000 =

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

ARRBEERR  HRAMBHRERAE
BIERADIRM A SR EE RS At
BEMNREEREAFERS

IR ZIREAN G ABIBLIFRE
ABERMEEN  AZERTAIA
EIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SHEEREE®

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A {EME )

Specific valuation techniques used to determine EreRmITEATEMBNSEHE
fair values of financial instruments include: BEEE

Valuation significant

Fair value as at Fairvalue techniqueand  unobservable

Financial assets 31 December hierarchy key inputs inputs

HEFEREER EBEXTIEREH
SMEE R12A3MBANMLFEE LFERKR AHE Al

2021 2020

20215 202045
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFRT ARETL

Financial assets at FVPL BATERA 6,000 - Llevel3 Recent transactions  N/A
— equity investments BamleR F3R AR5 TiER
(unlisted company) BE
—ERERE
(FEEMmRAE)
At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the RERERR  ARFESLH LR
Company update their assessment of the fair value of the WTERE S (HE - ERHEERERT
investments, taking into account the most recent BEEE - ARARESEARATE
independent valuations. The directors of the Company ARrEBERNETREEE -

determine the values of the investments within a range
of reasonable fair value estimates.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, PREZE2021F 2202012 A31 A1k
there was no significant transfers of financial assets and FE B B2RREBEIFAF
liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value BEER > EFNEETERHEER
hierarchy classifications. BEZENER -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SRRARERE®)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) /NSRENEE e )
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TREFHE = 2021 F % 2020F 12
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2021 and RA3NBLFEZEIHRTEES
2020:
2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEGAREHNSMEE
At 1 January ®1ATH - -
Addition NE 6,000 -
Fair value changes recognised in RE&HPERO QT EE
profit or loss = -
At 31 December ®12 A31H 6,000 =
Unrealised losses recognised RErE W R IERN
in consolidated income statement REEEE - -
4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BARETTESTRHE

JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

EEFRAEF T ERERAELREEMERE (2
EERBRBEATHRREMHELBRAGE
RTRHER) 1T AERT (S

AEBEARREL BT RRR - GaHEE
BR O BEEER BLOEBRBERERN
R TX&mEE A EEBUAY T @M
BEENEERABENREEELDEAS
Bmfhat RR& -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

(@) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment

In July 2021, the Group has ceased using certain
warehouses arising from the reception of a notice of land
resumption plan from the government, resulting in
relocation to new warehouses and certain leasehold
improvement and equipment cannot be relocated to the
new warehouses. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in this case
relating to the value in use; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts. Changing the assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
equipment have been determined by the management of
the Group based on value in use calculation. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the property, plant and equipment’ carrying
amounts and value in use. The management exercises
significant judgment in respect of the key assumptions to
determine the recoverable amounts of these assets.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment before impairment was
RMB18,773,000. During the year ended 31 December
2021, impairment loss of RMB16,479,000 (2020: nil) was
recognised on property, plant and equipment.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGMENTS (continuead)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all trade receivables.
For trade receivables which have impaired, the Group
assessed individually and provided for expected credit
losses allowance. If no reasonable and supportable
information is available without undue cost for expected
credit losses measurement, the trade receivables were
grouped by reference to the shared credit risk
characteristics and assessed collectively for expected
credit losses allowance. When measuring expected credit
loss, the Group considers the expected credit loss
experience, ageing profiles of trade receivables and
customers’ repayment history, and adjusts by taking into
consideration current conditions and forward-looking
factors.

The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the debtor’s historical
repayment history and forward-looking information at the
year end. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it
may be necessary to make additional expected credit
losses allowance to the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinea
A ISR T

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

(©

Impairment of bond measured at
amortised cost and interest receivables

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit loss for
bond measured at amortised cost and the relevant
interest receivables using individual assessment, based
on the internal credit rating, the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being
revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate carrying amounts
of bond measured at amortised cost and the relevant
interest receivables are RMB40,664,000 (2020: nil). No
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

Income taxes and deferred taxation

Significant judgment is required in determining the
provision for income tax. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such difference will impact the current tax and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the CODM of the Group, the CODM has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company.
CODM reviews the Group's internal reports in order to assess
performance, allocate resources and determine the operating
segments.

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(i) Transportation service;

(i) Warehousing service,

(i) In-plant logistics service; and

(iv)  Customisation service.

Reportable segment results represent the profit or loss resulted
by each segment and exclude bank interest income, interest
income from bond measured at amortised cost, interest
expenses on bank borrowing, impairment of property, plant

and equipment, change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL,
and unallocated corporate income and expenses.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
A BT RN e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

5 oHER®E)

Year ended 31 December 2021 #E2021¥12A31HILLEE
In-plant
Transportation  Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Total
ERRE BREE BRWRRE ERRE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AB%TR ABR%TT AR®TT AR®TR N 4o
Segment revenue: KB :
Sales to external customers  HINBEFHEE 95,565 43,709 70,942 1,563 211,779
Segment results ABER 9,110 (4,890) 16,013 610 20,843
Bank interest income RITMEHA 762
Interest income from bond B R A BRI EHH)
measured at amortised cost  F|BUA 664
Interest expenses on RITERFSHAR
bank borrowing (574)
Impairment of property, nE - BER
plant and equipment LERE (16,479)
Unallocated corporate income KB ERA 590
Unallocated corporate expenses kB AERER (26,888)
Loss before income tax BRETRRAIEE (21,082)
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service  Unallocated Total
EHRE BRERE  BAWRRE it 1 FEAR #it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AERTR AERTR AERTR ARRTT AERTR AERTR
Other segment information: X1 S45E# :
Depreciation of property, % BERRENE
plant and equipment (342) (404) - - (1,166) (1,912)
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets  EREAENE - (8,707) - - (951) (9,658)
Loss on disposals of property, HENE BER
plant and equipment REEE - - = = (47) (47)
Capital expenditure BREY - - - - (301) (301)
Income tax credit FiabiEs = = - - 3,980 3,980
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A R A S

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHERE)
Year ended 31 December 2020 #F2020FE12A31MHLLEE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
EBRK RERE BAMTRE TERRE @z
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARETT ANRBTT ARETR

Segment revenue: ARG :
Sales to external customers  HMNIRFEHEE 66,018 48504 69,739 937 185,198
Segment results RHEE 10,707 1577 16,861 368 29,513
Bank interest income BIIHERA 1,114
Interest expenses on FITERFERRL
hank borrowing (131)
Unallocated corporate income  RAELZMA 1275
Unallocated corporate expenses KAEEHE (24,757)
Profit before income tax BRETER AR o
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
BHR% EHERE  BRMTRE TS FEAE @
RVB'000 RVB'000 RVB000 RMB000 RMB000 RVB'000
ARETT ARETL ARETTL ARETT ARETT AREFR
Other segment information; Kt 3EEE :
Depreciation of property, % BERAENE
plant and equipment (623) (2425) (19) - (176) (3,143)
Depreciation of right-of-use  FREAENE
assets (146) (16,216) - - 639) (17,329)
Loss on disposals of property,  HEHE - BER
plant and equipment REEE = = = - (17) (17
Capital expenditure U - = - - (3788) (3788)
Income tax expense FERRR - - - - (4551) (4551)
Other than the segment revenue and segment results analysis BRIA E 2512 58 Uas ko BREAE DTN -
presented above, no analysis of segment assets or liabilities is MR EELBEBREERETHRESIE
presented as they are not regularly provided to the CODM. EXBENER - I EZTBEIT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

= 4 B A R B e

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 97% (2020: 96%) of
the Group's revenue from external customers, based on the
operation location of respective customers, is derived from the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are located in the
PRC.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the reporting period contributing
over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

DEER (#)
b [ &
AEETBETRLE

REZE2021F12A3MBIEFE > K"EH
REMBEF(ESEE 2L EMBIFTE)
Z W2k 97% (2020 4 : 96%) e B A EH -

20214 K2020F 12 A31H » "N&EE 2
FTENE BERSEBEREAREESAN
AFRE -

BREZ2EFPHNER
B o SO 2 7 S B L i 5 8K B 8 10% )
FEYMT -

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Customer A EFEA
Customer B =FEB
Customer C EPC

85,686 57,129
56,176 55,272
25,061 38,623
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

54 B 7 SR SR o

6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH REEFEFEHHNWE
CUSTOMERS
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with external KEINERE F & MBS AT
customers
2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with customers  Fi# B ik s 28| 1552 8 E N
within the scope of HKFRS 15: HRBERP AL
Recognised over time & B I FE AR
— Transportation service — BHRBE 95,565 66,018
— Warehousing service — BRI 43,709 48,504
— In-plant logistics service — B IR S 70,942 69,739
Recognised at a point in time RE— R ERERR
— Customisation service — ERR 1,563 937
211,779 185,198

The Group did not recognise any revenue-related contract
assets and liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2021

and 2020.

HE2021F K2020F12 B31HIEFE -
AEEWEERTABEHABEENEER

BfE-

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A SRR HTET

7 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7 HtWARWZEFE
2021 2020
2021 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Bank interest income HRITA YA 762 1,114
Interest income from bond measured AR SHRC AR ST 2 M EF B EMA

at amortised cost 664 -
Interest income from rental deposits MEREF BEWA 90 138
Government grants (Note) B (B aE) 548 1,190
Gain on lease modification (Note 15(b)) A& &z (K15 150)) 2,291 157
Net foreign exchange losses bE 5 BB R 5 (342) (1,255)
Others Hith 42 67

4,055 1,411
Note: et -
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amount mainly included HE2021FR2020F12A3BILEFE  AHEBEER
government grants to the Group for maintaining lower unemployment rate and BREAEFERERMETARENBUTER - AR
value-added tax ("VAT") credit granted under the new VAT policy with no BETEET (EER ) BER T AR EBEN - AR
unfulfilled conditions attached before recognition. TSI 48 B 7 R S AR ARAE
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 REEEANMXZ(BREESEHS)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

2021 2020
20215 2020 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Fees, wages and salaries %’@% cITERF® 61,504 62,371
Retirement benefit scheme contribution 3R R#EFI5T 214 2

(Note) (Bt5%) 10,178 5,206
Equity-settled share-based expense VARSHE A5 B 2 B 1) EE T B S0 - 5,277

71,682 72,854

Note: izt -
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no forfeited contribution under the 720216 K 2020F 12 A31H - BIERKEFFEET
retirement benefit scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the EUS WA AT T AN B R R E AR D B IHERR -

contribution payable in the future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea
& B &y R M aE e

RE
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERFBXX(BREEEM=)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors () wBANESER
(i) Directors’ emoluments iy =E==M2
The remuneration of every director for the year BEEHE2021F12A31H
ended 31 December 2021 are set out below: LEFERBMESHEINNT
Employer's
salaries, contribution Equity-
allowances, to defined settled
and benefits Discretionary contribution  share-based
Fees in kind bonuses plans expense Total
RS- 1] REER  DIREENZ
s Ehia BEEL HOMEEEE BAERER ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARMTT  ABRRTT  ARBTRE  AERFR  ARWTR
For the year ended #E2021512A318
31 December 2021 LEE
Executive directors HITEE
M. Li Jiahao (Note ) PEtrE(W) - 270 27 38 - 335
M. Li Jiali (Note REhEE(HH) - 276 2 35 - 338
Ms. Lin lianfang (Notes ivand x) - #&13 &+ (Bfstiv &ex) - 344 12 43 - 399
M. Le Kang (Note v) BEREWRY) - - - - - -
M. Li Jianming (Note vi) RRBEEWHvi) - 624 k7] - - 656
Mr. Song Ruipeng (Note vii) Rinlest & (Wt vii) - - - - - -
Mr. Li ianin (Note i¥) RRERLE WY - 1,155 - 58 - 1,213
Independent non-executive  BUH#HTEE
directors
Mr. Shao Wei BEtE 109 - - - - 109
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BEREL(HEi)
(Note ij 100 - - - - 100
Dr.WuKa Chee Dawy (Note i) SR &L (W) 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek (Note ii) BB %4 (Fatii) 15 - - - - 15
Mr. Yu Chun Man (Note i) RIERE W) 15 - - - - 15
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (Note vi) - FEB/ME (A3 vi) - - - - - -
339 2,669 98 174 - 3,280
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
1A BRI s e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 RFEEEMNBX(BREEE#M=)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) @ wHNEkERED®
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (i) EEM2(HE)
The remuneration of every director for the year FEEHE202012831H
ended 31 December 2020 are set out below: LEFERMESHINNT -
Employer's
Salaries, contribution Equity-
allowances, to defined Settled
and benefts  Discretionary  contribution  share-based
Fees inkind bonuses plans expense Total
e 2R REfts  MRELEL
we ENila BEFL HEMEFHRT  ROERRER @&

RMB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

For the year ended #E2020512A318

31 December 2020 LLEE
Executive directors HEE
Mr. Li Jianxin BREMEE - 1272 203 26 65 1,566
Mr. Li Jianming REREE - 701 196 - 65 962
Ms. Lin lianfang (Notes fvand x) - #8135 &+ (Bfstiv fex) - 358 - 18 611 987

Independent non-executive  BUFHTEE

directors
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BEREL 118 - - - 65 183
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy BREREL 118 - - - 65 183
Mr. Shao Wei BEtE 118 - - - 65 183

354 2,331 39 4 936 4,064
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea
A SRR e

8 EMPLOYEE

BENEFIT EXPENSES

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(iii)

(vi)

(viii)

Mr. Li Jiahao and Mr. Li Jiali are existing employee of the
Group and have been appointed as executive directors
with effect from 4 August 2021. The emoluments disclosed
above include those for services rendered by them as an
employee.

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence and Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy have
resigned as independent non-executive directors on 12
November 2021.

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek and Mr. Yu Chun Man have been
appointed as independent non-executive directors on 12
November 2021.

Ms. Lin Jianfang has resigned as an executive director on 6
December 2021.

Mr. Le Kang has been appointed as an executive director
on 6 December 2021.

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 6 December 2021.

Mr. Li Jianming has resigned as an executive director on 15
December 2021.

Mr. Song Ruipeng has been appointed as an executive
director on 15 December 2021.

Mr. Li Jianxin has resigned as an executive director on 21
December 2021.

Ms. Lin Jianfang is existing employee of the Group and has
been appointed as an executive director with effect from 1
September 2020. The emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by her as an employee.

8 EERINAX(BEEEME)

Rk ES S
) EEHE ()
st -

0] R s tERBRIRERTE
BRERE W H2021F8H4
FREZEANTES - EXH
BrMeBERSEAERRN
AR E BN o

(ii) BRI 1 R AR 218 54 2021
FNMARNRBEEBELERNTE
g °

(i) FEAR RS A BRI 3SR A 70 2021
FNARBERTRBILIEDL
TEH -

(iv) RIS Z £ R2021F12A6A
BERITES -

v) QR A R2021F 12 A6 B
ZERPTES -

(vi) TR ENDHER2021F12A68
EEEABIIERTES -

(vii) REZEF L ER2021F 12158
BHERITES -

(i) RIm M55 £ 2021412 415 H
BZERBITES -

(ix) REEH AT R20219F12 421
HEHIMITES -

) MRUF L RAEENBRERS
WH20205F9 A1 B EZERHR
TES - L RBEONE R
HiEREBRFRB OB -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

A B TR N

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)

)

(ii)

(iii)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remunerations shown above represent
remunerations received from the Company and
subsidiaries of the Company by these directors in
their capacity as employees to the Company and
no directors waived any emolument during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the subsidiaries of
the Company to the directors as an inducement to
join the subsidiaries of the Company, or as
compensation for loss of office during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

No payment was made to the directors as
compensation for early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERAFXX(BEEEM)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) () BFIRESES®)

(iv)

(v)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors (2020: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in the Note 26, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of the subsidiaries of the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Group
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: same).

(iv)

(v)

ERLUES  ESZ40EE
REBEERASREANE
FEUERREMXZNE
»
HE2021F12A31BIFE
MELES - EE2HEE
REHEERBARAYEZANE
P BUERSEMR H (2020
F : f8R) .

EERRS REBEHNFTH
BAER

BRETEE26 AT EE SN - REE
221F12ANBIEFEEFER
(T ] 5 A B T7 4B AR R 8K
RNARME ARG ZBASE
EXEBMsBEAMAERE
SEESMBERBERNERZZ
RG- BRHRE #2020 :
EIEDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
e EEe

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERAFXX(BEEEM)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (&)
(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals b)) EEREEFMMAL

The five highest paid individuals of the Group, which are
also senior management of the Company, include five
(2020: three) directors of the Company and nil (2020: two)
senior management of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021. The emoluments of these employees for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2021: nil) are as
follows:

HE2021F12A318LFE A%
BRfasaiiMALT(HERARA
AEREEAE)RREARAAE
(2020%F : =4 )E = R (20204 -
ME)AEERRERAB - Z5E
#2020 12 A31 B 1L F Z KB
©(20214F : E)IT -

2021 2020

20214 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBT T

Wages and salaries TERH® - 556
Retirement benefit scheme RKEFIF B

contribution - 17

Equity-settled share-based expense  LARRHEAEE > IR {5 BG5BT X = 594

- 1,167

The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2021: nil) highest
paid individuals other than the directors fell within the
following bands for the year ended 31 December 2020:

HE2020F12 A30HIEFE B E
EHNNERR 2R (20214 - B) RS H
B A T FFE N T A T 8 E -

Number of individuals

A8
2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
Emolument band i E E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 078 7T 2 1,000,000 7T = 2

No directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
compensation for loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

54 B 7 SR SR o

9 OTHER EXPENSES 9 HMEX
2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Auditor's remuneration A AGTIE AT 1,000 1,124
Entertainment expenses BERX 1,017 776
Equity-settled share-based expense FEEARESH 2
for non-employees P& {5 BB % = 335
Fleet operating expenses BREERS 4,962 3,902
Insurance expenses R 785 837
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 1,779 3,283
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BE REEEE
plant and equipment a7 17
Other taxes and surcharges H bR IE K pn 2 451 521
Outsourced labour costs HNE) S TRk A 7,366 5,971
Repair and maintenance expenses HIERRBRX 982 523
Telephone and communication fees BENEAE 392 458
Travelling expenses EHRFA S 393 355
Utilities expenses NRABERX 1,605 3,675
Other operating expenses Hiv B ERY 5,926 5,441
26,705 27,218
10 FINANCE COSTS 10 @E RN
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEBEMNBFRZ (K 150))
(Note 15(b)) 1,389 3,307
Interest expenses on bank borrowing RITE KA B 574 131
1,963 3,438

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
e EEe

1

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax standard rate is calculated at
25% (2020: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
current year. One of the subsidiaries is entitled to preferential
tax concession rate at 15% as it has obtained the High and
New Tech Enterprises license. Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant
jurisdictions.

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements as there is no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The amount of income tax credit/(expense) charged to the
consolidated income statement represents:

11

FEHiiESR (BAxX)

B 1 2 PTG AT R R AR AN E A B
JE SR T3 328 K1) 25% (2020 4F : 25%) 51 &
REF—FENB AR D EREIhEERRE
HAaZ 5 15%BER TR X - Hih 5 A%
EEEMNFIEZEEEREEATHTE

.
=44
iTHE

mAE F20214 %2020 12 A31 B L4
B ERAEBELEERRTEF - BWRGRE
WS R AW B BN SAERE -

mARBERAZFAERES,(FX) ¢

i

2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBF T

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Bl ATIS T
— Current year — KREE (163) (3,711)
— Over-provision in prior years — BTFERERE 4,176 -
4,013 3,711)
Deferred income tax (Note 24) IRIEFTS B (HTat24) (33) (840)
3,980 (4,551)
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11 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

The taxation on the Group's (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax standard rate of income tax as

11 FBHER(BX) @

BRETSFRAIAEE(BE),wF 2 HizEn
FRPBCEMERIEERKRME S ZFT
SHIEmME s ZRIT ¢

follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AEBTT
(Loss)/profit before income tax B FRriSRiaT (B538), % A (21,082) 7,014
Calculated at a taxation rate of 25% % 25% MR E
(2020: 25%) (20204F : 25%) (5,271) 1,754
Preferential tax concession rate AEARBENEEME X
for qualified entity 1,873 -
Tax effect of different tax rate in REMEERER NR RS
other jurisdictions BizEs 2 243 919
PRC tax concession PEFIEE R (997) -
Expense not deductible for NGk
taxation purpose 3,097 1,878
Tax losses for which no deferred RIERBELEFTEH
income tax was recognised B EE 1,251 -
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBARE (4,176) -
(3,980) 4,551
12 DIVIDENDS 12 RBRE
The directors of the Company have resolved not to declare any RRAREFFRIEIREE2021F12 A 31

dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

A2 &8 (20204 : £&) -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH



146

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

BB HRRM T

4T 5

13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@) Basic
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

13 BR(ER) B

(@)

BN

BREA(BR) BN RADEE
BAEE (BER),SaMRAFRE
BRI E -

73

2021 2020
2021% 20204
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable QR E AEEER
to the owners of the Company (E18),/ %R (A% TFT)
(RMB’000) (17,102) 2,463
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 2717 38 M ANHE F 15 8
shares in issue (thousands) (Fh&) 804,918 800,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share FRERN(EE) BT
(RMB cents) (AR5 ) (2.12) 0.31
(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share was calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume exercise of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group has one (2020: one) category
of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options (Note
23) (2020: share options).

Share options were not assumed to be exercised as they
would have an anti-dilutive impact to the (loss)/profit for
the year attributable to the owners of the Company per
share, for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
Same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ - BERRE
Furniture
Plant and and office Leasehold Motor
machinery equipment equipment  improvement vehicles Total
BERER LR BOBE  BENREKE RE #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2020 R202051A18

Cost kA 14,784 155 1,195 20,077 6,084 42,255
Accumulated depreciation ZHNE (13,281) (132) (775) (4.443) (3821) (22452)
Net book amount RAFE 1,503 23 380 15,634 2263 19,803

Year ended 31 December 2020 #E2020%12F 31 ALLEE

Opening net book amount BREFE 1,503 23 380 15,634 2,063 19,803
Additions RE 154 - 49 3,585 - 3788
Disposals e

- Cost - %) 21) (1) - (203) (342)
- Accumulated depreciation -2HE 6 20 106 - 193 325
Depreciation nE (623) ) (83 (1,809 (624) (3183
Closing net hook amount HEEmEE 1,083 18 3 17410 1629 20,431

At 31 December 2020 and ®2020512B 310 %

1 January 2021 20211R18
Cost AR 14,931 134 1,093 23,662 5881 45,701
Accumulated depreciation ZithhE (13,89) (116) (752) (6,252 4,25 (25,270)
Net book amount REFE 1,033 18 3 17410 1,629 20431

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z 2021512 A 31 AL EE

Opening net book amount BAREFE 1,033 18 341 17410 1629 20,431
Additions RE = 12 m 178 = 301
Disposals e

-Cost -RA (401) - (45) - (106) (552)
- Accumulated depreciation -ZitHE 376 - 3 - 91 505
Depreciation & (618) () %) (752) 438) (1912)
Impairment HE = (1) - (16,478) - (16479
Closing net book amount HREEFE 390 2% 36 3% 1176 2091
At 31 December 2021 #2021%12B8 31A

Cost KA 14,530 146 1,159 23,840 5775 45,450
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (14,140) (121) (813) (7,004) (4599 (26,677)
Accumulated impairment ZitfE - (1) - (16,478) - (16479)
Net book amount BEFE 390 2% 346 358 1176 2294

RIR (hE) BRERAD  —F-FFR 147
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continea)

= 4 B A R B e

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

15 EHEEERHEERR

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated @ MiEaUBRARERZ
statement of financial position mléi
(i) Right-of-use assets () GEAREE
Office
premises and
warehouses Forklifts Total
WMAYMRREE R=E Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AREBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2020 2020661 418 68,204 3,827 72,031
Additions NE 451 3,109 3,560
Adjustment arising from (e EE L AR
lease modification (8,653) (118) (8,771)
Depreciation e (15,001) (2,324) (17,325)
At 31 December 2020 #2020 12 A31H
and 1 January 2021 K2021F181H 45,001 4,494 49,495
Additions NE 233 298 531
Adjustment arising from (S EE L AR
lease modification (29,540) (1,734) (31,274)
Depreciation e (8,094) (1,564) (9,658)
At 31 December 2021 2021912 A31H 7,600 1,494 9,094
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEEE
2021 2020
20215 2020 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREFT
Non-current JERE 6,337 36,571
Current mE 3,286 15,070
9,623 51,641
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

15 FRAESEEREESEE®

(b) MirERERIER 2 TR

2021 2020

20215 2020 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE (9.658) (17,325)

Interest expenses on lease liabilities FHE&EMN EHY

(Note 10) (Ktz£10) (1,389) (3,307)
Lease payment relating to R SEEHEENK

short-term leases (28,282) (9,134)

Gain on lease modification (Note 7) M & &tz (AtsF7) 2,291 157

The total cash outflow for leases liabilities and expense
relating to short-term leases during the year ended 31
December 2021 was RMB38,921,000 (2020:
RMB28,435,000).

() The Group's leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises, warehouses
and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
typically made for fixed period ranging from one year to
nine years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable. As at 31
December 2021 and 2020, none of the Group's leases
contain any extension nor termination option.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the lease agreements
entered into by the Group do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

HE2021FE12A31ALFEE - HE
BEMNESRE MG ARSEERY
%8 A A R 38,921,000 7T (2020 4F -
AR 28,435,0007T) °

 AEEMHEETEHRAR
YAl
AEBMBELEREETHOADE -
BERNE HEAN—ME—FZ
NEMETEHRET - AEERIRE
RIEERER - BB EZHTRIER K
et o A TR R AR R AT TS AT HUH ER
MHRER  AEEEAGOHNE
& WEEALNRHIMITE AR -
20214 202012 A318 + &A%
EHREM TR EE ALK IR
B o

20214 22020512 A31H - K%
B 5T S e FH &t s TN P A (R (] 2258
(REBARENHEEEENERZ
#smEHN) c HEBETSRERER
o

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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BB HRRM T

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

17

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16 BRAVEFABRSENESMERE

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARHETTT

Unlisted investment ELEMRE 6,000 -

Unlisted investment represented interests in an unlisted
company which are principally engaged in provision of internet
information, data processing, application software, information
technology development and technical support service in the
PRC. The directors of the Company do not intend to divest this
investment in the foreseeable future and not held for trading.
Its fair value is determined with reference to a business
valuation report issued by an independent valuer. No change
in fair value since the date of acquisition.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FLMREER —HETPENERHER
WEH BEEE - EREAHRM  BA
R B R R R SE RS HIE LT R AR
i - ARAREREEAN RARRE L
RRE  MEREEE - EAFELESE
—%ﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁlﬁ”‘ﬂﬁ%fﬂéﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ%
AEEWRE AR EES -

17 ESZRHEMEWFIE

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables (Note a) B 5 IE (fsta) 45,760 70,519
Prepayments TR IA 935 1,778
Other receivables o Ath fE I 2k 2,136 1,069
Deposits 2e 10,165 9,769
Less: Non-current portion W IERBE D 58,996 83,135

Rental deposits (Note b) MELE (BaEb) (572) (3,192)
Current portion mENER 58,424 79,943
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BRI T

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

17 ESZREMEWRFE®)

REBEE 5 N H b 8K

EREREE TS IA

THEEEHE -

2021 2020
20214 2020 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEF T
RMB AR 30,192 71,389
ush EIT 26,965 10,973
HKD BT 707 89
Others HA 1,132 684
58,996 83,135
(@) Trade receivables @ EBZEWFIE
The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers AEBE-—BETHEPTF0E10
ranging from 0 to 150 days. The ageing analysis of the HHEEH - E 5 EUGRIEREZEH
trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: HZPMERER ST T ¢
2021 2020
20214 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AER®TT AREEF T
110 30 days 1£30H 31,737 28,720
31 to 60 days 31E60H 7,145 14,667
6110 90 days 61ZE90 H 5,972 14,122
Over 90 days @m0 H 906 13,010
45,760 70,519
The carrying amount of trade receivables approximate B o EWGIENRAEREE A TER
their fair value. 2
As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables of R2021F12A31H  A&EEZE5E

RMB2,815,000 (2020: RMB4,946,000) which are past due
but not impaired as at the reporting date. No trade
receivables balance has been past due 90 days or more,
and no amount is considered as in default based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience and taking into
consideration of forward-looking information.
Accordingly, the management of the Group considers
that allowance for credit losses of trade receivables is
insignificant as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

W K IE A A R #2,815,000 7T (2020
& ANRB4,9460007T) © ZEHRER
RikEAHEaHEARRE - HEE
SEBGRIBEEHD@MEI0 A A £

NESEEANAEENBAEEEE
15 R S E B ATIE M B R M AR A
KRBl AEEERERAESE
W IEMEEBEBER2021F &
202012 AN BAETEAK - NEE
W Z S AR ARG -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Rental deposits

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
has the intention to continue to lease the respective
premises and forklifts upon expiry of the lease terms.
Therefore, as at 31 December 2021, balance of
RMB572,000 (2020: RMB3,192,000) are classified as non-
current.

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an
undiscounted amount of RMB143,000 (2020:
RMB143,000) as at 31 December 2021 paid to Mr. Li
Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming, the then executive director
and their three brothers as the Group leased an office
premise owned by them.

18 BOND MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

17 ESZREMEWFIE®)
by MEEH=

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
e EEe

ARBEERR  AREREENE
HEREHEEEMERNXE-

gk R2021%12A431H

CARE

572,000t (20204 = AE#3,192,000

TL)MERBERIERD

R2021F12A31H  AEEHER
S BRE-TERRENITE R RETN
FERBRRASXERRE =R HIA
HIARITIR B8 AR 143,000 7.(2020
F 0 ARBE143,0007T)  ThEAARE
EREREMERTNORAME -

18 LAMSER AT BV ES

2021
20214
RMB’000

AR®TR A

2020
2020
RMB'000

RETT

Unlisted bond FEMES

40,000

On 13 August 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
(the “Subscriber”) entered into a subscription agreement with
an independent third party that listed on the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for the
bond with principal amount of RMB40.0 million.

Bond measured at amortised cost was unsecured,
denominated in RMB, bore fixed interest rate at 4.3% per
annum and repayable in August 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not consider the
amount to be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

19 RERRSEEY

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Cash at banks RITHES 68,130 74,925
Cash on hand FEERS 32 40
68,162 74,965

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities. Cash
at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The Group's cash and cash equivalents were denominated in
the following currencies:

HARHREE  RekReFEVOERE
BEAEQNFERE - RITASWFHH X
W ERRITE BT EFRIRA S - RIT
EHRNEERF AT EELTENRITH
TFHH

AEENBRE e RRSFEMA T EMEST
#:

2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

RMB AR 33,260 57,009
usb E 19,503 12,029
HKD AIT 14,932 5,553
Others EAh 467 374

68,162 74,965

As at 31 December 2021, the cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounted to RMB50,969,000 (2020: RMB68,111,000),
were deposited in bank accounts with banks in the PRC where
the remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.

HZE2021F12A31H AEEHNBR SR
Re&EEYHSERARES0,969,0007T
(20205 : AR ¥68,111,0007T) © 17 W7
AR ERITRYAERITE D - ERE
B B Il HRPR

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 EZRHEMEMNKIE
2021 2020
2021% 2020%F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Trade payables B S e RIE 31,375 15,077
Accrued employee benefit expenses FEstHEEEFEX 5,065 6,733
Other accrued expenses and H s &
other tax payable H A FIE 1,803 1,541
Other payables HAb R 5RIE 4,789 3,365
43,032 26,716
The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers mainly REEHEERTHEENREIZA30E
ranges from 30 to 90 days. 908 -
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice BHRNFBREZAHZTMERE DT
date were as follows: NN
2021 2020
20215 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

1to 30 days 1£30H 21,487 10,589
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,297 3,340
61 to 90 days 61£290H 4,314 649
Over 90 days HiB90 H 1,277 499

31,375 15,077
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20

21

B BHRRM T

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

20

ESRHMERNRE %)

RNEBZ S N E M ENZFAENEREE R
AT EH#EE -

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETE

RMB AR 22,012 19,695
usbD ES 19,121 5,579
HKD BT 2 452
Others Hfh 1,897 990
43,032 26,716

BANK BORROWING 21 RITER
2021 2020
20214 2020 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT

Current, unsecured, guaranteed REp - MK HER

— Repayable within 1 year — AN ERNER

10,000

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowing bore fixed
interest rate of 4.85% per annum, denominated in RMB and
was guaranteed a then executive director, Mr. Li Jianxin. The
bank borrowing has been entirely repaid during the year ended
31 December 2021.

F20204E12 A31H » SRITIE KW EE &
FEAH485% « AARBEHEL HEERT
EEREFAERER - RITERCRER
2021F 12 A3 BILFERE(EE -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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BB HRRM T

4T 5

22 SHARE CAPITAL 22 B
Number of shares (thousand) share capital
BH&E (F&) K&
2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 20204 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET THL
Authorised: EE
At 1January and 31 December ®»1A18K&12A318 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAE :
At 1 January ®1A18 800,000 800,000 8,000 8,000
Issue of share through share & BRR 1D R 21T
subscription (Note a) (Fiita) 80,000 - 800 -
Issue of shares upon exercise  F{7{F B A E M 21Tk
of share options (Note 23) (H:#23) 4,400 - 44 -
At 31 December W12B31H 884,400 800,000 8,844 8,000

31 December 31 December

2021 2020
20214 2020
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBEFIT
Share capital presented in consolidated W44 BEk R & 25 8% A
statement of financial position 7,450 6,761

All shares issued during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 rank pari passu in all respects with the existing

shares of the Company.

Note:

(a) On 10 December 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of 80,000,000 (@
shares with a price of HK$0.20 each. The proceed from the share
subscription was approximately HK$16,000,000 (equivalent to Ep

approximately RMB13,050,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 23 HBRAETE

Prior to the shares of the Company were successfully listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017, the Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which became
effective and unconditional upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following
the transfer of listing of the shares of the Company from GEM
to Main Board of the Stock Exchange and in full compliance
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules. The
listing of the shares of the Company to be issued under the
Share Option Scheme have been transferred to the Main Board
on 19 December 2019 pursuant to the requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards or
incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Company
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
must be approved in advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of 10
years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a 10-
year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors of the Company. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's share.

RARQFRMDHN2017E10 A 18 B B
FrGEMBKTH LT AT - R AR 201749 A
268 B ERMB AR SI([ BB IREST
B2l ERARRBRMDEBRI EmgA
R B AR o

RARE I B GEM B EBEZ P £ AR £ 7h
% BRESFIDABHEEY L2E
6 EMARRMARERE - RIEBBIE
T EITHARRBMN BN 2019F12 A
19 BRE EMARRIMEBEEREM

BRETINENESARAMAERA
ITREBEE  MEREBAKERLTE
B0 SRR SRR - AR A 2EBITIRTT
EELBRESAINEMERAGEBRA
TREBRE  ARBBARRRND - RE
ARBRRELIAE - EITEBIRERE
EI AR BT EME IR MM A R
P A e BT AR A BIRMDBEAE KT
BERBA QB NMEM R R EITHRDH
B R 10% o REARBBRRELHLME
RER —FREFBEAERE RAER D
E BB B R PSR B 31T R i T 3T
HETREBEBARARRNEMNREDETR
MEN1% » WX T EERRIBILIFATE
EHEREBARRARAN01% - BIZA
REARRAIBR B SHLE

BREF SN 10FHMANGERBR - RIER
AERT & BBRENTEHA10F
BRIARPEZGRARTE - (TEREBAR
RABFET  ERIBERRTZES
F (VAR BBAD R B HIR K THHE ¢ (i)
BROREZRE L AR AESEBENFS
WHE : (i) ARRBROHEEE -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH

157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

= 4 B A R B e

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Details of the share options movement during the year are as

23 BERESE (e

FRBRENE

BT

follows:
Number of share options (in thousands)
HRENE (T)
Exercisable period Balance as at Exercised  Balance as at
Categories of friEs 1 January during 31 December
participants Date of grant  From To Exercise price 2021 the year 2021
#2021 12021
SHEFER BHAH 3| E fiE®E 1A 10#&& ERNTE  12R31A&R
(Note) HKS
i3] B
Directors 1June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - 12,000
4 00F6818  2020%6A18  2030F5A318
Employees 1 June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - 57,000
BB 00F6A18  2020F6A18  2030F5A318
Non-employees 1 June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 4,400 (4,400) -
FER W0F6R1H  200F6A18  2030F58318
73,400 (4,400) 69,000

Note: The categories of participants represented the position of grantees as at

the date of grant.

Details of outstanding share options at the end of the year are

et : SEEFRBIEAR ARG A HFAERL -

RERHRITENBEREFBOT

as follows:
2021 2020
20215 2020 ¢
Number of exercisable share options (in thousands) 69,000 73,400
AT AR SR (F1H)
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.188 HK$0.188
N7 EE 0.188 # T 0.188 87T
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) 8.4 9.4

DRI RIER S KV HARR (5F)

The share options have no vesting period.
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BRI T

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share-based
payment expense was recognised in the consolidated income
statement in relation to the share options (2020:
RMB5,612,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 4,400,000 shares
(2020: Nil) were issued upon exercise of share options with
exercise price of HK$0.188 per share. The net proceeds were
approximately RMB676,000 (2020: Nil).

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the management'’s
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of a number of subjective assumptions. Any change
in the variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation
of the fair value of an option. The significant assumptions used
in the binomial model to derive the fair value at the date of
grant were as follows:

Expected volatility 41.606%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.529%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors 2.80
Early exercise multiple for employees 2.20
Early exercise multiple for non-employees 2.20
Closing share price at grant date HK$0.188
Exercise price per share HK$0.188

The expected volatility is calculated based on the historic
volatility of share prices of the Company and comparable
companies based on publicly available information. Expected
dividend yield is based on historic dividends.

23

BRETE ()
REZE2021F12A3NB L FE - WER
BREN A WG RRER UKD AER
2 (2020%F + AR¥ES,612,0007T) °

HE2021F12A318 - ATFEERES
%17 4,400,000 (& B 17 (2020 4F : %) « 1718
BRER0.188/8TT - ATSIAFREABLHA
¥ 676,000 7T (2020 4F : f&) ©

FTEBREATEMANEERBERD
%ﬁﬁﬁmwuﬁﬁoﬁh%FEIEF
TEBEENTREEMAMTR - £AE
RABEMERED g yBERE

RFEZHAEEETATE - EHAR
AAFEANREREARATFEZERR
BSOS

Ta HR R 18 41.606%
TEHR R 10 &
= B I 0.529%
TEHARR Bk 5 & 0.00%
ERRPTEEH 2.80
EERBITEREH 2.20
EEBIRFEITHEE 2.20
R B B2 IR W E 0.1887 7T
GRITERE 0.188 75T
TEET R 18 DIRB AR R IR D B 2 B £
Bt E - MALBRARDERAHAASE

FEE - RS R TIERELRE -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

24 EEFIEHER
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Deferred income tax liabilities BEEASHAE

489 456

The movements in deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities are

BIEFTSH (BE) AEESHIT :

as follows:
Right-of-use Accelerated
assets/lease Rental tax
liahilities deposits  depreciation Total
EREEE/
HEAR HERe MEREHE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARBETT ARETT AERETFT AEBTT
At 1 January 2020 2020514818 (242) (143) - (385)
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated ~ 31% /(GTA) A BINER
income statement (Note 11) (Wi 11) (294) 2 1,106 840
Exchange difference BRLEE - - 1 1
At 31 December 2020 and R2020512A318 K
1 January 2021 20211818 (536) (115) 1,107 456
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated ~ #1B /(G A &x & Bl &
income statement (Note 11) (BizE11) 457 99 (523) 33
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12 8318 (79) (16) 584 489

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams from respective entity within the Group. As at
31 December 2021, the unrecognised tax losses to be carried
forward against future taxable income amounted to
approximately RMB8,339,000 (2020: nil) and will expire in 2026.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 24 EEFBHEE R
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities have A2021F12A318 - KRt AREE K F
not been provided in respect of the withholding tax that would B BT 88 A B K BE & B B TR B AT 4R
be payable on unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiary of the RIEFTE T8 & 78R 8 A KR ¥ 95,669,000
Company amounting to approximately RMB95,669,000 (2020: 70 (20204 + AR #98,253,0007T ) * Ith T}
RMB98,253,000), as the Group is able to control the timing of A 7N £E [ AL 242 o) BT A 2= EE 0 1 (B R S
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable Nz EEREENA] RARRAG KA 8
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the g o

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were calculated by BERIBEERBENZMEMAEERES
preferential tax rate at 15% in respect of the subsidiary that is ERGEEZMB AR ZBEDXR15%E
entitled to preferential tax concession as disclosed in Note 11. I

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25 ZEFIEI-MHMEIA

2021 2020
20215 2020 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETT

Financial assets EMEE

At fair value BATFE

— Financial assets at FVPL —RAVEFABSENMEEE 6000 -

At amortised cost BREEEE

— Trade and other receivables — B 5 REAMERGRIA 58,061 81,357

— Bond measured at amortised cost — DG ENES 40,000 -

— Cash and cash equivalents —HEeRREZEEY 68,162 74,965
166,223 156,322
172,223 156,322

Financial liabilities eMAR

At amortised cost BEERE

— Trade and other payables — E5 REMENRE 36,164 18,442

— Lease liabilities —HEaE 9,623 51,641

— Bank borrowing — RITER = 10,000

45,787 80,083
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontined
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 BEFRS
(@) Names and relationships with related () At 7 2t N B 5/
parties ke

i E A — 7 B s B IR sk ik
HKRES S — T RGBT EETH
BREERAREITRERATES A
WAR RN - R IR o BARE TSR]
BREREABITZEEENKE  EX
R RSB FHER) Sk E T
B BRASEBEARBELTHE
BEAFENNER - WETRXHAR
22 5 R IR AR A RERE 7 o

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party, to
joint control over the party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and
operation decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may
be individuals (being members of key management
personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close
family members) or other entities and include entities
which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are

162

subject to common control.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following parties/companies were related parties with
nil/with transactions or balances with the Group during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Name of related parties

ek

Relationship with the Group

FRBA R MEEBORE

Mr. Li Jianxin Director of the Company (resigned on 21 December 2021)
i tibated RNAFEE (72021912 821 BET)

Mr. Li Jianming Director of the Company (resigned on 15 December 2021)
BRAFBA K& RNATEE (720214512 A 15 BEHE)

Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua

and Mr. Li Jianwen
IRIEES A - BRRZE S RBRIE SR
Guangzhou Handpicked Wine Co. Ltd
BNEXEEBEER A

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021

Brothers of Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jilanming

R E RBREBEEZ N
Controlled by the controlling shareholders
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 26

BBAERXS @)

(b) Transactions with related parties

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

(b) HEREEEST X5

KRR BHRRATREERIN - K
SENFNREHR TN

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Transactions x5
Repayment of principal and interest 2262754 - ZREERA LA
portion of lease liabilities to RIBESTE RIBELER
Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming, RETEEEEHRERED
Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua K K B EH
and Mr. Li Jianwen 495 1,126
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  fZ2f@E 4 - ZREEAEA -
charged by Mr. Li Jianxin, REREE  BEERER
Mr. Li Jianming, Mr. Li Jianrong, RE AWM EEE
Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen BB 43 74
Purchase of consumer goods from MEMNEFEEBEERAA
Guangzhou Handpicked Wine REOEER
Co. Ltd 384 334

The above transaction was made at rates and terms in
the normal course of business as agreed between the

parties.

R B THIEET R HE 2 IE BT

BIRH 2 B R R ARTETT ©

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
() Guarantee provided by a director

The Group's bank borrowing as at 31 December 2020
was guaranteed by Mr. Li Jianxin, details of which are set
out in Note 21.

(d) Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and senior
management of the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remunerations as disclosed in
Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:

26 BEEARS (&)

©

—HEFRFEHER
REE R 2020F 12 A 31 B AV R1THE
e BRSO A EIR - BEIBBMIE
21 e

EEEME%/\,\@H:E

EREEERAEBREENSRE
i@l@ °

AEEEEEEADFM(RERH
BREM QT RENESHS)
T -

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Fees, salaries and other allowances #4¢ - #4 R H 2R 3,545 4,351
Retirement benefit scheme contributions &k i@ 5+ 214t 2 238 90
Equity-settled share-based expense  LARGHEASEE 2 iS {9 HERERA - 1,621

3,783 6,062
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27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27 ZmEHERERMT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Cash generated from operations @ KEMEAR®
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Mtat AR®TT AREFIT
(Loss)/profit before income tax B AR AT (E18), % F (21,082) 7,014
Adjustments for: BLLAT B IEIEL FHE -
Depreciation of property, M - BE MEREITE
plant and equipment 1,912 3,143
Depreciation of right-of-use FRAEEENE
assets 9,658 17,325
Impairment of property, M - WERRERE
plant and equipment 16,479 -
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - HE K&
plant and equipment RiEEE 9 a7 17
Unrealised exchange losses REIRE K EE 7 342 1,255
Bank interest income RITF EUA 7 (762) (1,114)
Interest income on bond B SERR ARG BB ES
measured at amortised cost B F B U A 7 (664) -
Interest income on HEZRSM WA
rental deposits 7 (90) (138)
Finance costs BB KA 10 1,963 3,438
Gain on lease modification HE ek 7 (2,291) (157)
Share-based payment expense  j% {5 B 25 52 - 5,612
Operating profit before working %84 ¢ #&p1 <&
capital changes Nl 5,512 36,395
Changes in working capital: LBEEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b FEURIE (15,505) (11,236)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EM R FRIE 16,638 (3,824)
Cash generated from operations &4 fE4+H & 6,645 21,335

@I GRE) ERARAT / —F - FEH 145
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27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

27

GmEBEREXRMT#)
b) MEEBEANEELHREK

Bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
SRITHER HEAR
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFTT ARKETTT

As at 1 January 2020 #2020F181A8 - 73,005
Non-cash movements: FReE
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HRHEEARE - 3,558
— Adjustment arising from — B EEE MR

lease modification - (8,928)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBENFEHX - 3,307
— Interest expenses on bank borrowing  — $R1T& EF BB 131 -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) Be&FnA (i) 9,869 (19,301)
At 31 December 2020 and 20206128318 %

1 January 2021 202151818 10,000 51,641

Non-cash movements: R EH)
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HEREERE - 526
— Adjustment arising from — B EE R AR

lease modification - (33,294)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBENFERHX - 1,389
— Interest expenses on bank borrowing  — $R1T& 0 FI BB 574 -
Net cash outflow WEFRL (10,574) (10,639)
At 31 December 2021 72021128 31H - 9,623

() Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
entered into several lease agreements and recognised
right-of-use assets of RMB530,000 (2020: RMB3,560,000)
and lease liabilities of RMB526,000 (2020: RMB3,558,000).

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
capital commitment.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments for
property, plant and equipment, amounting to RMB632,000.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021
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HZEE12A3NBILEE - KEEF
AIVATHER R L mRERE
%F/\Eﬂ%‘%ooooﬁ(zozoi AR

7T (2020¢ : /\E’ﬁg 3,558,000 7o) e

BAEE
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29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29 AARMBEMRRAKRKRFEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the () ANARFEHR AR
company
2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BiaE AR®TRT ARETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERENEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHBRFIMIEE 53,509 53,509
53,509 53,509
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Efh U SRIE 707 89
Cash and cash equivalents B RREEEY 13,182 116
Total assets EESHE 67,398 53,714
EQUITY e
Share capital A% 22 7,450 6,761
Reserve s 29(b) 37,347 26,940
Total equity EReHE 44,797 33,701
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities mERE
Other payables and accruals HibE A RE R EEA 1 453
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEfHH B A BIZkIR 22,600 19,560
Total liabilites =~~~ #fe@®wm 22601 = 20013
Total equity and liabilities &R &EHEEE 67,398 53,714
The statement of financial position of the Company was RAR MR REKE R20229F3 A4
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 NEEE=eHE  THREEZEZ.

and was signed on its behalf.

Le Kang Li Jiahao
R REE
Director Director
EF EF

@FYT (hE) ZRERAR  —F - EEH 147
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29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29 AARMBERRERRFEEES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (é%f)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ANATFHEEE
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RiNER
RiAAE K ECT | 2HER @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTTL ARETTL ARBTT ARBTTL

At 1 January 2020 #2020£1A18 37,763 20,095 - (27,348) 30,510
Loss and total comprehensive  FRER R 2 EER

loss for the year @ - = - (9,182) (9.182)
Transactions with owners HEHANRS
Share-based payments RAERT 3 - - 5612 - 5,612

At 31 December2020and  #2020512B 318 R

1 January 2021 20211818 37,763 20,095 5,612 (36,530) 26,940
Loss and total comprehensive  ERERBRZHEER
loss for the year b = - - (2,630) (2,630)

Transactions with owners HEHAHZS
Issue of shares through share & BIR(REETRN

subscription (Note 22(a)) (HEE22) 12,397 - - - 12,397
Issue of shares upon exercise  R{TERERIEZTRA

of share options (Note 23) (Fs£23) 975 - (335) - 640
At 31 December 2021 #2021%128 318 51,135 20,095 5,277 (39,160) 37,347
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30 SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows. Unless otherwise
stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary
shares and the proportion of ownership interests held equals
the voting rights held by the Group.

30 MEBLQF

20214 202012 A31 B AR A8 £
EWB AR T - BRBFIEBIN -
ZEMBARMBRAERIEL AR Hﬁﬁ
BHEBREERLAISNAEETFNE
o

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid ordinary Equity interest
Name of subsidiaries kind of legal entity share capital attributable to the Group  Principal activities
MR BRTR
MEAE &R EAERER BERLERSF FEEEERE FRERE
2021 2020
20215 2020
Indirectly held by the Company:
FRFMERT
Guangzhou World-Link (Note i) The PRC, RMB30,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of transportation,
limited liability company warehousing, in-plant logistics
and customisation services
BN AREERT (Mt i) HE - HRAR AR 100% 100% HRELEER - B BAMR
30,000,000 7T RERIRH
Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited  Egypt, EGP50,000 100% 100%  Provision of
limited liability company transportation services
iR R R)BRAA Bk BRRA 50,0003% & &% 100% 100% fRELERRG
Notes: Hfat

(i) Unless otherwise stated, the principal place of operation of each
company is the same as its place of incorporation.

(ii) The English name represent the best effort by the Group’s management
to translate its Chinese name, as this subsidiary does not have official
English name.

(0] MEEEBN BRARMNEREEMEMEET
AL REARTR -

(ii) F P A R ER R A - BTy
AEBEEEERESASNERE LN -

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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31 EVENTS AFTER DATE OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors proposes to change the English hame
of the Company from “Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings
Limited” to “Yues International Holdings Group Limited” and
the dual foreign name in Chinese of the Company from “ & F
Y (R ZERABR AR " t0 " ZERBERIERERBR AT

The change of company name was approved by the
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company convened on 23 March 2022 and will take effect
subject to approval from the Registrar of Companies in the
Cayman Islands.
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MBHRAPMENER

EFEeERSARARINAXEES (@A
Y (R B AR AR A A ] Bk [Yues
International Holdings Group Limited | »
R XEEICEER [EAYR(PE)
ERARAT ] Eim [SERERIZEREE
ABRAAE] -

FHAREEE BRERN2022F3 523 R
BRZARRBRRERNAEG LA - Wi
REASHERREMERERIERER -



Financial Summary

52

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below:

ERARBENAEEREMBFENREAREER
BESE(REAARACD TENEEXSEARN
BT $IMT

RESULTS 4
For the year ended 31 December
H#E12A3MALEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2017 4F 20184 20194 20204 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AREBTT AREBTT AR®TT ARBTRE
Revenue e 192,075 211,271 209,750 185,198 211,779
Profit/(l0ss) before taxation BRSNS (EiE) 13,280 30,270 15,956 7,014 (21,082)
Income tax (expenses)/credit  FriSFE (FIsz), HE % (6,342) (8,033) (6,635) (4,551) 3,980
Profit/(loss) for the year Frm A, (EE) 6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102)
Attributable to: LATR& 5 e -
— owners of the Company — RDAER A 6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102)
— non-controlling interests — FEFEARAE RS = - - _ _
6,938 22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102)

AR (FE) ERERDE / —T = FFH
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Financial Summary continea
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERERE

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2017 4F 2018 4 2019 4F 2020 £F 20215
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTRE
Total assets BEE 125,523 155,204 235,602 228,026 184,546
Total liabilities BEfE (30,918) (38,362) (109,439) (93,788) (53,917)
Net assets BEZEE 94,605 116,842 126,163 134,238 130,629
Equity attributable to the ARG #HA A
owners of the Company JE(L R 94,605 116,842 126,163 134,238 130,629
Note: izt -

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had first applied HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15. The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions
set out in HKFRS 9 and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 and has applied HKFRS 15
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, certain financial
information for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out above may not be
comparable to the years ended 31 December 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018 as such
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18 and HKAS 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first
time and has elected the applicable practical expedient for not reassess contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2019). The financial
information as set out above for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 have
therefore not been restated on initial application of HKFRS 16.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2021

HZE2018F 12 A3 BILFE - AEBEEXEREBIMBREE
IR R BB BHRELAF ISR - AEEDRIBEFANE
REERNEIFAENBE G ERBESUEREEAE O -
B EEZSRTRANR2018E1AMTHERIEERNITA I
BRPEAESMBEREEIFE 5% MERNERZEANE
I ERERERABEEN201841 8 18) R - Bt - XX
HHE201T7F12ANBUEFENE THBERRMSAIHEEE
20214 ~ 20204 ~ 20194 20184 12 A3MB L F EH & - R
AREELRENTDIRBEBGTEUNE 18R RE SR
EI9HMmE o

BHE2019F12A3NBILFE  FEEEERERAEEABRE
ERFE6  WEREBEMREREE L TEEMTERE
RIERBMEN2019F1 A1) AIEFENER Bt - EXPF
WEZE2018F K207 12ANBIEFENRBER T ERE
RERBERUBRSEAS 1657FET
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